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Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Assets Note 2024 2023
(in Aruban Florins)

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 2 4,846,046                 8,164,877                  

Investment securities - short term 3 4,701,947                  6,281,516                  

Prepayments and other current assets 4 793,221                      755,142                      

Reinsurance contract assets 5 14,616,263                4,934,868                 

Current account affiliated companies 6 3,851,814                  3,380,620                 

28,809,291               23,517,023                

Non-current assets

Investment securities - long term 3 18,310,890                14,480,501                

Right-of-use assets 7 2,801,730                  569,238                     

Property and equipment 8 76,291                        94,480                       

Intangible assets 9 4,565                          4,565                          

Deferred tax asset 10 1,161,256                   1,059,563                  

22,354,732                16,208,347                

TOTAL ASSETS 51,164,023            39,725,370            

Liabilities and equity Note  2024 2023
(in Aruban Florins)

Liabilities

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities 11 2,108,945                  3,838,552                 

Current account affiliated companies 6 66,889                       292,243                     

Insurance contract liabilities 5 23,787,812                12,766,063                

Reinsurance payable 5 7,682,991                  7,225,838                  

Lease liabilities 7 2,872,927                  610,723                     

36,519,564                24,733,419                

Equity

Share capital 12 1,800,000                 1,800,000                 

Other components of equity 12 9,898                         57,466                       

Retained earnings 12 12,834,561                13,134,485                

Total equity 14,644,459               14,991,951                

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY 51,164,023            39,725,370            

Director

Statement of financial position as at December 31, 2024

These financial statements were approved by the Supervisory Board of Directors and signed on its behalf by:

Director

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 5



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Note 2024 2023
(in Aruban Florins)

Insurance revenue 13 24,096,423         23,381,373          

Insurance service expense 14 (23,840,771)         (11,617,565)          

Insurance service result from insurance contracts issued 5 255,652                11,763,808          

Net release / (expenses) from reinsurance contracts held 15 1,071,915              (8,515,000)          

Insurance service result 1,327,567             3,248,808           

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest 

method 16 938,771               850,378              

Net impairment loss on financial assets (3,551)                   (195)                      

Net investment income 935,220                 850,183                 

Net insurance and investment result 2,262,787              4,098,991              

Other expenses 7,8,17 (4,604,598)          (7,724,742)           

Other income 18 1,899,547            996,612                

Net loss before taxation (442,264)          (2,629,139)       

Taxation 10 101,693                501,412                

Net loss after taxation (340,571)           (2,127,727)        

Statement of comprehensive loss for the year ended 
December 31, 2024

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 6



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

2024 2023
(in Aruban Florins)

Net loss before taxation (340,571)           (2,127,727)        

Other comprehensive income to be reclassified to profit or 

loss in subsequent years (net of tax):

Debt investments at FVOCI - net change in fair value 16 (50,253)                57,467                  

Net change on ECL loss 16 2,685                    -                       

(47,568)                57,467                  

Net other comprehensive (loss)/income 

for the year (47,568)            57,467              

Comprehensive loss for the year (388,139)          (2,070,260)      

Statement of other comprehensive loss for the year ended December 31, 
2024

Other comprehensive income

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 7



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Share capital

Other 

components 

of equity

Retained 

Earnings Total

(in Aruban Florins)

              1,800,000                                 -                 15,262,212               17,062,212 

                                -                         57,466                                 -                         57,466 

                                -                                   -                 (2,127,727)               (2,127,727)

                                -                         57,466               (2,127,727)              (2,070,261)

              1,800,000                       57,466               13,134,485                14,991,951 

                                -   
                   (50,253)

                                -                      (50,253)

                                -                           2,685                                 -                           2,685 
                                -                                   -                    (340,571)                  (340,571)

                                -                      (47,568)                  (340,571)                  (388,139)

Transactions with owners and other transactions:

                                -                                   -                        40,647                      40,647 

                                -                                   -                        40,647                      40,647 

              1,800,000                         9,898               12,834,561              14,644,459 

Refer to note 12 for additional disclosures regarding these equity components.

Net loss after taxation

Balance as at December 31, 2024

Prior year adjustments

Net change on ECL loss

Net loss after taxation

Comprehensive income:

Debt investments at FVOCI - net change in 

fair value

Balance as at January 1, 2023

Statement of changes in equity for the year ended December 31, 2024

Comprehensive income:

Debt investments at FVOCI - net change in 

fair value

Balance as at January 1, 2023

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 8



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Note 2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Cash flows from operating activities:

Net loss before taxation               (442,264)            (2,629,139)

Depreciation of property and equipment 8                    42,229                   56,909 

Depreciation from right-of-use assets 7                  177,244                    47,289 

Interest and other expense from lease liability 7                 170,838                    39,614 

Expected credit loss / (recovery) 17                   82,463                    (5,166)

Prepayments and other current assets           (1,089,802)                (891,671)

Due to reinsurers            (9,224,242)               (999,207)

Insurance liabilities            10,979,933              1,012,088 

Accounts payable and accrued liabilities            (1,729,607)             (1,278,535)

Current account affiliated companies               (696,548)            (1,297,058)

           (1,287,492)             (3,315,737)

Interest received              1,036,053                 818,462 

Profit tax paid 10                  (47,568)                             -   

                988,485                 818,462 

Net cash flows used in operating activities                 (741,271)             (5,126,414)

Cash flows from investing activities:

Purchase of property and equipment 8                 (24,040)                    (7,433)

Purchase of investment securities           (8,994,224)                             -   

Proceeds from sale and maturity of investment securities              6,743,404             3,525,800 

Net cash flows (used in) / provided by investing activities             (2,274,860)               3,518,367 

Cash flows from financing activities:

Repayment of lease liability               (302,700)                 (72,660)

Net cash flows used in financing activities               (302,700)                 (72,660)

Net decrease in cash and cash equivalents         (3,318,831)        (1,680,707)

Cash and cash equivalents at January 1 2              8,164,877              9,845,584 

Cash and cash equivalents at December 31          4,846,046           8,164,877 

Statement of cash flows for the year ended December 31, 2024

Adjustments to reconcile profit before tax to net cash flows:

Working capital movements:

See accompanying notes to the financial statements 9



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Corporate information

Approval of the financial statements

E
BASIS OF PREPARATION AND MATERIAL ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

Statement of compliance

Going Concern basis of accounting

•

•

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions

Notes to the consolidated financial statements

(1) Other general information and summary of material accounting policies

CORPORATE AND GROUP INFORMATION

Nagico Aruba N.V., (the "Company") was incorporated on April 2, 2008 under the laws of Aruba. The Company's

registered office address is Avenida Milio Croes #27, Oranjestad, Aruba. 

The Company was a wholly-owned subsidiary of National General Insurance Co. (NAGICO) N.V. ("Nagico N.V.")

which is incorporated in St. Maarten (“the parent”) up till 30 September 2023. Effective 1 October 2023 the

Company is a wholly-owned subsidiary of Nagico Dutch Caribbean B.V., incorporated in St. Maarten. The ultimate

parent is NAGICO Holdings Limited, which is incorporated in Anguilla. All transactions and balances described as

group relate to NAGICO Holdings Limited, its subsidiaries and affiliates.

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these financial statements are set out below. These

policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

The financial statements of the Company have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting

Standards (IFRS Accounting Standards) as issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (IASB), under

the historical cost convention unless otherwise stated.

Management continues to have a reasonable expectation that the Company has adequate resources to continue in

operation for at least the next 12 months and that the going concern basis of accounting remains appropriate.

For the year ended 31 December 2024, the Company recognised a comprehensive loss of AWG 0.34 million. The

Company’s net assets as at 31 December 2024 were AWG 14.6 million.

The most severe downside case scenario, which is considered to be prudent but plausible, would have a significant

adverse impact on insurance revenue, margin and cash flows. In response, management has the ability to take the

following mitigating actions to reduce costs, optimise the Company’s cash flow and preserve liquidity:

reducing non-essential capital expenditure and deferring or cancelling discretionary spending; and

The Company's principal activity is the offering of property and casualty insurance including fire, motor, public

liability, marine and health insurance. A significant portion of the Company's casualty insurance business is

reinsured.

reducing marketing expenditure

The Board of Directors have concluded that it is appropriate to prepare the financial statements on a going concern

basis after considering the financial forecasts.

The financial statements were approved by the Board of Directors on June 26, 2025.

The preparation of the Company’s financial statements requires management to make judgments, estimates and

assumptions that affect the reported amounts of revenues, expenses, assets and liabilities, and the accompanying

disclosures, and the disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities. Uncertainty about these assumptions and

estimates could result in outcomes that require a material adjustment to the carrying amount of assets or liabilities

affected in future periods.

In the process of applying the Company’s accounting policies, management has made various judgments. Those

which management has assessed to have the most significant effect on the amounts recognized in the financial

statements have been disclosed in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items. 

10



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

Right-of-use 

asset Lease liability

Depreciation 

expense

Interest 

Expense

(in Aruban Florins)

25 year lease term 745,580             763,257              42,758                135,853              

10 year lease term (1,031,457)          (1,067,277)         145,122               (20,007)              

The Company cannot readily determine the interest rate implicit in the lease, therefore, it uses its incremental

borrowing rate (IBR) to measure lease liabilities. The IBR is the rate of interest that the Company would have to pay

to borrow over a similar term, and with a similar security, the funds necessary to obtain an asset of a similar value to

the right-of-use asset in a similar economic environment. The IBR therefore reflects what the Company ‘would have

to pay’, which requires estimation when no observable rates are available (such as for subsidiaries that do not enter

into financing transactions) or when they need to be adjusted to reflect the terms and conditions of the lease (for

example, when leases are not in the subsidiary’s functional currency). The Company estimates the IBR using

observable inputs (such as market interest rates) when available and is required to make certain entity-specific

estimates (such as the subsidiary’s stand-alone credit rating). 

The key assumptions concerning the future and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the reporting date,

that have a significant risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within

the next financial year, are also described in the individual notes of the related financial statement line items below.

The Company based its assumptions and estimates on parameters available when the financial statements were

prepared. Existing circumstances and assumptions about future developments, however, may change due to market

changes or circumstances arising that are beyond the control of the Company. Such changes are reflected in the

assumptions when they occur. 

Revaluation of property and equipment and investment properties

The Company carries its land, buildings and improvements at revalued amounts with changes in fair value being

recognized in the statement of other comprehensive income (OCI).

The value of the right-of-use asset and a lease liability are particularly sensitive to changes in the term of the lease.

Since the lease held by the Company is on a perpetual method, Management has decided to take the median of the

maximum useful life for a building (10-25 years), which is 18 years, as the term of the lease. The analysis below shows 

the impact to the right-of-use asset, lease liability, depreciation expense and interest expense when using the higher

end and lower end of the useful life for a building.

Determining the lease term of contracts with renewal and termination options –  as lessee 

The Company determines the lease term as the non-cancellable term of the lease, together with any periods covered

by an option to extend the lease if it is reasonably certain to be exercised, or any periods covered by an option to

terminate the lease, if it is reasonably certain not to be exercised.

The Company has several lease contracts that include extension and termination options. The Company applies

judgement in evaluating whether it is reasonably certain whether or not to exercise the option to renew or terminate

the lease. That is, it considers all relevant factors that create an economic incentive for it to exercise either the

renewal or termination. After the commencement date, the Company reassesses the lease term if there is a significant

event or change in circumstances that is within its control and affects its ability to exercise or not to exercise the

option to renew or to terminate.

The Company included the renewal period as part of the lease term for leases of buildings. The Company typically

exercises its option to renew for these leases because there will be a significant negative effect on its operations.

Furthermore, the periods covered by termination options are included as part of the lease term only when they are

reasonably certain not to be exercised. 

Determining the incremental borrowing rate to measure lease liabilities

11



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

The Company applies its judgement in assessing whether a contract transfers to the issuer significant insurance risk.

A contract transfers significant insurance risk only if an insured event could cause the Company to pay additional

amounts that are significant in any single scenario and only if there is a scenario that has commercial substance in

which the issuer has a possibility of a loss on a present value basis upon an occurrence of the insured event,

regardless of whether the insured event is extremely unlikely. The assessment of whether additional amounts

payable on the occurrence of an insured event are significant and whether there is any scenario with commercial

substance in which the issuer has a possibility of a loss on a present value basis involves significant judgement and is

performed at initial recognition on a contract-by-contract basis. The type of contracts where this judgement is

required are those that transfer financial and insurance risk and result in the latter being the smaller benefit

provided. The application of judgement in this area is aided by the Company's processes to filter contracts where the

additional amounts referred to above are more than 5% but less than 10% of the amounts paid if the insured event

does not occur. Additional amounts that are less than 5% are considered by the Company as insignificant. A specialist

unit conducts all these judgemental classifications under IFRS 17 to maintain consistency across the Company. This

assessment is performed after separation of non-closely related derivatives, distinct investment components and

promises to transfer distinct goods and non-insurance services.

Assessment of significance of insurance risk

Combination of insurance contracts

Taxes

Deferred tax assets are recognised for all unused tax losses to the extent that it is probable that taxable profit will be

available against which the losses can be utilised. Significant management judgement is required to determine the

amount of deferred tax assets that can be recognised, based on the likely timing and the level of future taxable profits

together with future tax planning strategies. Further details on taxes are disclosed in Note 10. 

The Company issues some insurance contracts that combine protection for the policyholder against different types of

insurance risks in a single contract. IFRS 17 does not require or permit separating insurance components of an

insurance contract unless the legal form of a single contract does not reflect the substance of its contractual rights

and obligations. In such cases, separate insurance elements must be recognised. Overriding the ‘single contract’ unit

of account presumption involves significant judgement and is not an accounting policy choice. When determining

whether a legal contract reflects its substance or not, the Company considers the interdependency between different

risks covered, the ability of all components to lapse independently, and the ability to price and sell the components

separately.

Separation of insurance components of an insurance contract

The measurement of a group of insurance contracts includes all the future cash flows arising within the contract

boundary. In determining which cash flows fall within a contract boundary, the Company considers its substantive

rights and obligations arising from the terms of the contract, from applicable law, regulation and customary business

practices. Cash flows are considered to be outside of the contract boundary if the Company has the practical ability to

reprice existing contracts to reflect their reassessed risks, and if the contract’s pricing for coverage up to the date of

reassessment only considers the risks until the next reassessment date. The Company applies its judgement in

assessing whether it has the practical ability to set a price that fully reflects all the risks in the contract or portfolio.

The Company considers contractual, legal and regulatory restrictions when making its assessment and applies

judgement to decide whether these restrictions have commercial substance.

Determining whether it is necessary to treat a set or series of insurance contracts as a single contract involves

significant judgement and careful consideration. In assessing whether a set or series of insurance contracts achieve,

or are designed to achieve, an overall commercial effect, the Company determines whether the rights and obligations

are different when looked at together compared to when looked at individually and whether the Company is unable

to measure one contract without considering the other.

Determination of the contract boundary

12



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

For quota share home and motor reinsurance contracts with a coverage period extending beyond one year, the

Company elects to apply the PAA if at the inception of the group, the Company reasonably expects that it will provide

a liability for remaining coverage that would not differ materially from the General Model. The Company exercises

judgement in determining whether the PAA eligibility criteria are met at initial recognition.

The Company applies judgement when distinguishing between contracts that have no significant possibility of

becoming onerous and other profitable contracts.

Level of aggregation

Assessment of significance of modification

The Company uses judgement in assessing whether cash flows are directly attributable to a specific portfolio of

insurance contracts. Insurance acquisition cash flows are included in the measurement of a group of insurance

contracts only if they are directly attributable to the individual contracts in a group, or to the group itself, or the

portfolio of insurance contracts to which the group belongs. When estimating fulfilment cash flows, the Company

also allocates fixed and variable overheads fulfilment cash flows directly attributable to the fulfilment of insurance

contracts.

Assessment of directly attributable cash flows

The Company derecognises the original contracts and recognises the modified contract as a new contract, if the

derecognition criteria are met. The Company applies judgement to assess whether the modified terms of the contract

would result in the original contract meeting the criteria for derecognition.

IFRS 17 does not define the level at which the risk adjustment for non-financial risk should be determined. The level

of aggregation for determining the risk adjustment for non-financial risk is not an accounting policy choice and

requires judgement. The Company considers that the benefits of diversification occur at an issuing entity level and

therefore determines the risk adjustment for non-financial risk at that level. The diversification benefit is then

allocated to all groups of insurance contracts for which it has been considered in aggregate. The Company considers

that the risk adjustment for non-financial risk allocated to any individual group, as the cost of uncertainty, cannot be

negative. Accordingly, when determining the allocation, correlations of non-financial risk between groups are

ignored. This is because they have already been considered as part of the diversification benefits in determining the

overall entity-level risk adjustment. The Company allocates the total entity-level risk adjustment to groups based on

the percentage of the group’s expected fulfilment cash flows to the total expected fulfilment cash flows.

Level of aggregation for determining the risk adjustment for non-financial risk

Assessment of eligibility for PAA

The Company defines a portfolio as insurance contracts subject to similar risks and managed together. Contracts

within the same product line are expected to be in the same portfolio as they have similar risks and are managed

together. The assessment of which risks are similar and how contracts are managed requires the exercise of

judgement. Where similar products are issued by different entities within a group, they are considered to be separate

portfolios. Despite the oversight provided by management at the group level, the Company determines that these

contracts are managed at the local issuing entity level. For some product lines, the group acquires insurance

contracts as part of a business combination or a portfolio transfer. Unlike originally issued contracts, contracts

acquired in a settlement phase transfer an insurance risk of adverse claims development. The Company considers

such risk to be different from contracts it originally issues and aggregates such contracts in separate portfolios by

product line.

Identification of portfolios

13



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

• Future cash flows

• Discount rates

• Allocation rate for insurance finance income or expenses

• Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

• Allocation of asset for insurance acquisition cash flows to current and future groups of contracts

• Insurance contracts issued that are liabilities was AWG 23.8 million (2023: AWG 12.8 million)

• Reinsurance contracts held that are assets was AWG 14.6 million (2023: AWG 4.9 million)

• Reinsurance contracts held that are liabilities was AWG 7.7 million (2023: AWG 7.2 million)

Sensitivity analysis of carrying amounts to changes in assumptions:

Change in 

assumption

As at 

December 31, 

2024

As at 

December 31, 

2023

Parallel shift in discount rates in AWG 1% (170,574)             (66,955)              

Parallel shift in discount rates in AWG -1% 177,960              70,228               

Insurance contract assets and liabilities and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities

By applying IFRS 17 to measurement of insurance contracts issued (including investment contracts with DPF) and

reinsurance contracts held, the Company has made estimations in the following key areas. They form part of the

overall balances of insurance contract assets and liabilities and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities:

Technique for estimation of future cash flows

Cash flow estimates include both market variables directly observed in the market or derived directly from markets

and non-market variables such as mortality rates, accident rates, average claim costs, probabilities of severe claims,

policy surrender rates. The Company maximises the use of observable inputs for market variables and utilises

internally generated group-specific data.

In estimating fulfilment cash flows included in the contract boundary, the Company considers the range of all

possible outcomes in an unbiased way specifying the amount of cash flows, timing and probability of each scenario

reflecting conditions existing at the measurement date, using a probability-weighted average expectation. The

probability weighted average represents the probability-weighted mean of all possible scenarios. In determining

possible scenarios, the Company uses all the reasonable and supportable information available to them without

undue cost and effort, which includes information about past events, current conditions and future forecasts.

IFRS 17 establishes a principle for determining coverage units, not a set of detailed requirements or methods. The

selection of the appropriate method for determining the amount of coverage units is not an accounting policy choice.

It involves the exercise of significant judgement and development of estimates considering individual facts and

circumstances. The Company selects the appropriate method on a portfolio-by-portfolio basis. In determining the

appropriate method, the Company considers the likelihood of insured events occurring to the extent that they affect

expected period of coverage in the group, different levels of service across the period and the quantity of benefits

expected to be received by the policyholder.

Selecting a method of allocation of coverage units

(in Aruban Florins)

Every area, including the Company’s estimation methods and assumptions used and other sources of estimation

uncertainty are discussed below. At December 31, 2024, the Company’s total carrying amount of:

14



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

The Company used the following yield curves to discount cash flows:

1 year 5 years 10 years 20 years 30 years

5.80% 7.75% 10.40% 9.44% 8.01%

5.24% 5.25% 7.69% 7.37% 6.09%

(in Aruban Florins)

Allocation of asset for insurance acquisition cash flows to current and future groups of contracts

The Company allocates the asset for insurance acquisition cash flows to an associated group of contracts and to any

future groups that include the contracts that are expected to arise from the renewals of the contracts in that group

using a systematic and rational method. In doing so, the Company estimates the expected contracts to be included

within a future group or the number of renewals that may arise from an original group when allocating the asset.

Estimation of allocation rate for insurance finance income or expenses

The Company uses either the constant or crediting rate in the systematic allocation of insurance finance income or

expenses.

The constant rate used in a period is calculated applying the formula which uses three variables: the estimate of

future cash flows at the end of the reporting period (not discounted), the present value of future cash flows brought

forward discounted by the constant rate used in the previous period, and the expected duration of the group

contracts. In determining the constant rate, the Company estimates the expected insurance finance income or

expenses over the remaining duration of the group that is partly implicit in the estimated cash flows.

Risk adjustment for non-financial risk

The risk adjustment for non-financial risk is the compensation the Company requires for bearing the uncertainty

about the amount and timing of the cash flows arising from insurance risk and other non-financial risks such as lapse

risk and expense risk. It measures the degree of variability of expected future cash flows and the Company-specific

price for bearing that risk and reflects the degree of the Company’s risk aversion. The Company determines the risk

adjustment for non-financial risk at the entity level and then allocates it to all the groups of insurance contracts. In

estimating the risk adjustment, the Company uses the cost of capital method. The Company included a risk-

adjustment of 4% (2023: 4%) that set its liability for incurred claims at about a 75th percentile confidence level

(2023: 75th). The margin is additive implying that diversification benefit is embedded. From a compensation

perspective, the risk adjustment represents a reasonable compensation for non-financial risk and is consistent with

pricing policy. As diversification benefits are built into the Company’s pricing strategy, it chooses not to apply any

adjustment to the indicated risk adjustment by portfolio.

2024

2023

In determining discount rates for different products, the Company uses the bottom-up approach for cash flows of

nonparticipating contracts that do not depend on underlying items. Applying this approach, the Company produced

separate curves for each currency and illiquidity profile. Each curve comprised three major components: A) Risk-

free discount curve; B) Non-credit risk adjustment; and C) Illiquidity premium.

Method of estimating discount rates

The reference risk-free discount rates were based on the United States (US) treasury yields.

The non-credit risk adjustment was derived by deducting the US treasury bond rate and the sovereign credit risk

from the yield of bond denominated on local currency. The bonds used in the calculation were of similar durations.

The sovereign credit risk was equal to the sum of the expected and unexpected credit loss for local bonds. The

Expected Credit Loss (ECL) was derived based on the Company’s asset portfolio. The Unexpected Credit Loss (UCL)

was set equal to 100% of the ECL as recommended by the Canadian Institute of Actuaries.

The Company assigned illiquidity profile and illiquidity premium to separate portfolios.

15



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

•

•

As a backstop, the Company considers that a significant increase in credit risk occurs no later than when an asset is

more than 30 days past due. Days past due are determined by counting the number of days since the earliest elapsed

due date in respect of which full payment has not been received. Due dates are determined without considering any

grace period that might be available to the debtor.

Management overlays may be applied to the model outputs if they are consistent with the objective of identifying a

significant increase in credit risk.

The Company has assumed that the credit risk of a financial asset has not increased significantly since initial

recognition if the financial asset has low credit risk at the reporting date. The Company considers a financial asset to

have low credit risk when its credit risk rating is equivalent to the globally understood definition of ‘investment

grade’. The Company considers this to be BBB- or higher based on S&P Global Ratings, which is equivalent to an

internal risk grade of 4 or lower.

the remaining lifetime probability of default (PD) as at the reporting date; with

Significant increase in credit risk

When determining whether the credit risk (i.e. risk of default) on a financial instrument has increased significantly

since initial recognition, the Company considers reasonable and supportable information that is relevant and

available without undue cost or effort. This includes both qualitative and quantitative information and analysis based

on the Company’s experience, expert credit assessment and forward-looking information.

The Company primarily identifies whether a significant increase in credit risk has occurred for an exposure by

comparing:

the remaining lifetime PD for this point in time that was estimated on initial recognition of the exposure.

Whenever available, the Company monitors changes in credit risk by tracking published external credit ratings. To

determine whether published ratings remain up to date and to assess whether there has been a significant increase in

credit risk at the reporting date that has not been reflected in published ratings, the Company also reviews changes in 

bond yields together with available press and regulatory information about issuers.

Where external credit ratings are not available, the Company allocates each exposure to a credit risk grade based on

data that is determined to be predictive of the risk of default (including but not limited to audited financial

statements, management accounts and cash flow projections and available regulatory and press information about

debtors) and applying experienced credit judgement. Credit risk grades are defined using qualitative and quantitative

factors that are indicative of the risk of default and are aligned with external credit ratings.

The Company identifies key drivers behind changes in credit risk for portfolios. Generally, a significant increase in

credit risk is assessed on an individual instrument basis as described above. However, if the Company identifies a key

driver that is not considered in the individual assessment on a timely basis, then the Company will evaluate whether

there is reasonable and supportable information that enables it to make an additional assessment on a collective

basis with respect to the whole or part of a portfolio. This may lead to the Company concluding that a segment or

proportion of a portfolio has undergone a significant increase in credit risk.

If there is evidence that there is no longer a significant increase in credit risk relative to initial recognition, then the

loss allowance on an instrument returns to being measured as 12-month ECL. Some qualitative indicators of an

increase in credit risk, such as delinquency or forbearance, may be indicative of an increased risk of default that

persists after the indicator itself has ceased to exist. In these cases, the Company determines a probation period

during which the financial asset is required to demonstrate good behaviour to provide evidence that its credit risk

has declined sufficiently. When the contractual terms of an asset have been modified, evidence that the criteria for

recognising lifetime ECL are no longer met includes a history of up-to date payment performance against the

modified contractual terms.
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Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

• Probability of Default (PD)

• loss given default (LGD); and

• exposure at default (EAD)

Measurement of ECL

The key inputs into the measurement of ECL are the term structures of the following variables:

its remaining lifetime PD as at the reporting date based on the modified terms; with

the remaining lifetime PD estimated based on data on initial recognition and the original contractual terms.

Definition of default

The Company considers a financial asset to be in default when:

quantitative: e.g. overdue status and non-payment of another obligation of the same debtor to the Company; and

qualitative: e.g. breaches of covenant;

the debtor is unlikely to pay its credit obligations to the Company in full, without recourse by the Company to 

actions such as realising security (if any is held); or

the financial asset is more than 90 days past due.

Forward looking information is incorporated through the use of credit rating outlooks (Positive, Stable, Negative)

provided by credit rating agencies. The Company utilizes several recognised rating agencies for this purpose along

with an internal model and proxies where applicable. For the purpose of calculating ECLs, credit risk is measured

and mapped using an adjusted IFRS 9 rating which incorporates forward looking information. Investment securities

with a negative outlook, will have their credit rating downgraded by one notch on the S&P scale. For example, an

investment that is credit rated BB+ with a negative outlook will be classified as BB for IFRS 9 ECL purposes.

Securities with Stable and Positive outlooks will remain unchanged. 

based on data developed internally and obtained from external sources.

Inputs into the assessment of whether a financial instrument is in default and their significance may vary over time

to reflect changes in circumstances.

Incorporation of forward-looking information

The Company monitors the effectiveness of the criteria used to identify significant increases in credit risk by regular

reviews to confirm that:

the criteria are capable of identifying significant increases in credit risk before an exposure is in default;

the criteria do not align with the point in time when an asset becomes 30 days past due;

the average time between the identification of a significant increase in credit risk and default appears reasonable;

In assessing whether a debtor is in default, the Company considers indicators that are:

Significant increase in credit risk (continued)

exposures are not generally transferred from 12-month ECL measurement (Stage 1) to credit-impaired (Stage 3); 

and

there is no unwarranted volatility in loss allowance from transfers between 12-month (Stage 1) 

and lifetime ECL (Stage 2) measurements.

Modified financial assets 

The contractual terms of a financial asset may be modified for a number of reasons, including changing market

conditions and other factors not related to a current or potential credit deterioration of the debtor. An existing

financial asset whose terms have been modified may be derecognised and the renegotiated asset recognised as a new

financial asset at fair value plus eligible transaction costs. The new asset is allocated to Stage 1 (assuming that it is not

credit-impaired at the date of modification).

When the terms of a financial asset are modified and the modification does not result in derecognition, the

determination of whether the asset’s credit risk has increased significantly reflects a comparison of:
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Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

• instrument type;

• credit risk grade;

• collateral type

• date of initial recognition;

• remaining term to maturity;

• industry; and

• geographic location.

Measurement of ECL (continued)

ECL for exposures in Stage 1 are calculated by multiplying the 12-month PD by LGD and EAD. Lifetime ECL are

calculated by multiplying the lifetime PD by LGD and EAD.

EAD represents the expected exposure in the event of a default. The Company derives the EAD from the current

exposure to the counterparty and potential changes to the current amount allowed under the contract, including

amortisation, and prepayments. The EAD of a financial asset is its gross carrying amount at the time of default. 

As described above, and subject to using a maximum of a 12-month PD for Stage 1 financial assets, the Company

measures ECL considering the risk of default over the maximum contractual period (including any borrower’s

extension options) over which it is exposed to credit risk, even if, for risk management purposes, the Company

considers a longer period.

Where modelling of a parameter is carried out on a collective basis, the financial instruments are grouped on the

basis of shared risk characteristics, which include:

The groupings are subject to regular review to ensure that exposures within a particular group remain appropriately

homogeneous.

When ECL are measured using parameters based on collective modelling, a significant input into the measurement of

ECL is the external benchmark information that the Company uses to derive the default rates of its portfolios. This

includes the PDs provided in the S&P default study and the LGDs provided in the Moody's recovery studies.

Operating lease receivables

The ECL of operating lease receivables are determined at country level using a provision matrix. Loss rates are

calculated with reference to days past due and actual credit loss experience over the past five years and are

multiplied by scalar factors to incorporate forward-looking information.

To determine lifetime and 12-month PDs, the Company uses the PD tables supplied by [Rating Agency X] based on

the default history of obligors in the same industry and geographic region with the same credit rating. The Company

adopts the same approach for unrated investments by mapping its internal risk grades to the equivalent external

credit ratings. The PDs are recalibrated based on current bond yields and CDS prices, and adjusted to reflect forward-

looking information as described above. Changes in the rating for a counterparty or exposure lead to a change in the

estimate of the associated PD.

LGD is the magnitude of the likely loss if there is a default. The Company estimates LGD parameters based on the

history of recovery rates of claims against defaulted counterparties. The LGD models consider the structure,

collateral, seniority of the claim, counterparty industry and recovery costs of any collateral that is integral to the

financial asset. For loans secured by retail property, loan-to value ratios are a key parameter in determining LGD.

LGD estimates are recalibrated for different economic scenarios. They are calculated on a discounted cash flow basis

using the effective interest rate as the discount rate.
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Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

2024 2024 2023 2023

(in Aruban Florins) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2

Financial investments – not underlying items

Other debt securities at FVOCI

Balance at 1 January 1,837                   -                      1,680                  -                      

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 24                        -                      157                      -                      

New financial assets acquire 1,982                  -                      -                      -                      

Financial assets derecognised (192)                    -                      -                      -                      

Balance at 31 December 3,651                   -                      1,837                   -                      

Government bonds at FVOCI

Balance at 1 January -                      -                      -                      -                      

New financial assets acquire 871 -                      -                      -                      

Balance at 31 December 871                      -                      -                      -                      

2024 2024 2023 2023

(in Aruban Florins) Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 1 Stage 2

Other debt securities at amortised cost

Balance at 1 January 15,751                 -                      15,711                  -                      

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 656                      -                      40                        -                      

Balance at 31 December 16,407                -                      15,751                 -                      

Government bonds at amortised cost

Balance at 1 January -                      -                      -                      -                      

Net remeasurement of loss allowance 195                      -                      -                      -                      

New financial assets acquire 15                         -                      -                      -                      

Balance at 31 December 210                      -                      -                      -                      

·

·

·

Loss allowance

Level 1 – fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or

liabilities.

Level 2 – fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are

observable for the asset and liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Determination of fair value

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company uses market observable data as far as possible.

Fair values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs in the valuation

techniques as follows:

Level 3 – fair value measurements using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market

data (i.e. unobservable inputs).

Financial assets at fair value through profit or loss are valued using quoted prices in active markets when available.

Market values were determined on the basis of available information at the end of the financial year, and therefore,

did not take into account subsequent movements.

The following tables show reconciliations from the opening balance to the closing balance of the loss allowance by

class of financial instrument.
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Basis of preparation (continued)

Material accounting judgments, estimates and assumptions (continued)

New and amended standards

The amortised costs less impairment provision of insurance receivables are assumed to approximate their fair value

due to the short-term nature of these receivables.

When the fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities recorded in the statement of financial position cannot

be measured based on quoted prices in active markets, their fair value is measured using valuation techniques

including the discounted cash flow (DCF) model. The inputs to these models are taken from observable markets

where possible, but where this is not feasible, a degree of judgement is required in establishing fair values.

Judgements include considerations of inputs such as liquidity risk, credit risk and model inputs such as volatility for

longer dated derivatives and discount rates, prepayment rates and default rate assumptions for asset backed

securities. 

For discounted cash flow analysis, estimated future cash flows and discount rates are based on current market

information and rates applicable to financial instruments with similar yields, credit quality and maturity

characteristics. Estimated future cash flows are influenced by factors such as economic conditions (including country

specific risks), concentrations in specific industries, types of instruments or currencies, market liquidity and financial

conditions of counterparties. Discount rates are influenced by risk free interest rates and credit risk. 

A financial instrument is regarded as quoted in an active market if quoted prices are readily and regularly available

from an exchange, dealer, broker, pricing service or regulatory agency, and those prices represent actual and

regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s-length basis. If the above criteria are not met, the market is

regarded as being inactive.

In cases where the fair value of unlisted equity instruments cannot be determined reliably, the instruments are

carried at cost less any impairments. Investment in government bonds are carried at amortised cost less any

impairments.

The Company applied for the first time certain standards and amendments, which are effective for annual periods

beginning on or after January 1, 2024. The Company has not early adopted any other standard, interpretation or

amendment that has been issued but is not yet effective (unless otherwise stated).

Several other amendments and interpretations apply for the first time in 2024, but do not have an impact on the

consolidated financial statements of the Company. 

The fair value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash

flows at the current market interest rate that is available to the Company for similar financial instruments. The

carrying amounts of trade payables and other current liabilities approximate fair values due to the short-term

maturities of these liabilities. 

The Company maintains its accounting records in Aruban Florins (AWG). Transactions in foreign currencies are

translated at the foreign exchange rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets and liabilities

denominated in foreign currencies at the statement of financial position date are translated to AWG at the foreign

exchange rate ruling at that date. Foreign exchange differences arising on translation are recognized in the statement

of comprehensive income. Non-monetary assets and liabilities that are measured in terms of historical cost in a

foreign currency are translated using the exchange rate at the date of the transaction.

Determination of fair value (continued)

Foreign currency translation
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New and amended standards (continued)

•

•

Amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments: Disclosures titled Supplier 

Finance Arrangements

comparative information for any reporting periods presented before the beginning of the annual reporting period

in which 

the entity first applies those amendments

The amendments contain specific transition provisions for the first annual reporting period in which the group

applies the amendments. Under the transitional provisions an entity is not required to disclose:

The amendments add a disclosure objective to IAS 7 stating that an entity is required to disclose information about

its supplier finance arrangements that enables users of financial statements to assess the effects of those

arrangements on the entity’s liabilities and cash flows. In addition, IFRS 7 is amended to add supplier finance

arrangements as an example within the requirements to disclose information about an entity’s exposure to

concentration of liquidity risk.

The amendments specify that only covenants that an entity is required to comply with on or before the end of the

reporting period affect the entity’s right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting

date (and therefore must be considered in assessing the classification of the liability as current or non-current). Such

covenants affect whether the right exists at the end of the reporting period, even if compliance with the covenant is

assessed only after the reporting date (e.g. a covenant based on the entity’s financial position at the reporting date

that is assessed for compliance only after the reporting date).

The group has adopted the amendments to IAS 1, published in January 2020, for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements—Non-current Liabilities with Covenants

The IASB also specifies that the right to defer settlement of a liability for at least twelve months after the reporting

date is not affected if an entity only has to comply with a covenant after the reporting period. However, if the entity’s

right to defer settlement of a liability is subject to the entity complying with covenants within twelve months after the

reporting period, an entity discloses information that enables users of financial statements to understand the risk of

the liabilities becoming repayable within twelve months after the reporting period. This would include information

about the covenants (including the nature of the covenants and when the entity is required to comply with them), the

carrying amount of related liabilities and facts and circumstances, if any, that indicate that the entity may have

difficulties complying with the covenants.

The group has adopted the amendments to IAS 1, published in November 2022, for the first time in the current year.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases—Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback

The amendments to IFRS 16 add subsequent measurement requirements for sale and leaseback transactions that

satisfy the requirements in IFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers to be accounted for as a sale. The

amendments require the seller-lessee to determine ‘lease payments’ or ‘revised lease payments’ such that the seller-

lessee does not recognise a gain or loss that relates to the right of use retained by the seller-lessee, after the

commencement date.

The amendments clarify that the classification of liabilities as current or non-current is based on rights that are in

existence at the end of the reporting period, specify that classification is unaffected by expectations about whether an

entity will exercise its right to defer settlement of a liability, explain that rights are in existence if covenants are

complied with at the end of the reporting period, and introduce a definition of ‘settlement’ to make clear that

settlement refers to the transfer to the counterparty of cash, equity instruments, other assets or services.

The amendments affect only the presentation of liabilities as current or non-current in the statement of financial

position and not the amount or timing of recognition of any asset, liability, income or expenses, or the information

disclosed about those items.

the information otherwise required by IAS 7:44H(b)(ii)–(iii) as at the beginning of the annual reporting period in

which the entity first applies those amendments

The group has adopted the amendments to IAS 7 Statement of Cash Flows and IFRS 7 Financial Instruments:

Disclosures titled Supplier Finance Arrangements for the first time in the current year. 

Amendments to IAS 1 Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current
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New and amended standards (continued)

Standards issued but not yet effective

•

•

The amendments do not specify how an entity estimates the spot exchange rate to meet that objective. An entity can

use an observable exchange rate without adjustment or another estimation technique. Examples of an observable

exchange rate include:

An entity assesses whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency at a measurement date and for a

specified purpose. If an entity is able to obtain no more than an insignificant amount of the other currency at the

measurement date for the specified purpose, the currency is not exchangeable into the other currency.

The assessment of whether a currency is exchangeable into another currency depends on an entity’s ability to obtain

the other currency and not on its intention or decision to do so.

When a currency is not exchangeable into another currency at a measurement date, an entity is required to estimate

the spot exchange rate at that date. An entity’s objective in estimating the spot exchange rate is to reflect the rate at

which an orderly exchange transaction would take place at the measurement date between market participants under

prevailing economic conditions. 

a spot exchange rate for a purpose other than that for which an entity assesses exchangeability

The amendments state that a currency is exchangeable into another currency when an entity is able to obtain the

other currency within a time frame that allows for a normal administrative delay and through a market or exchange

mechanism in which an exchange transaction would create enforceable rights and obligations.

Amendments to IFRS 16 Leases—Lease Liability in a Sale and Leaseback (continued)

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates titled Lack of Exchangeability

As part of the amendments, the IASB amended an Illustrative Example in IFRS 16 and added a new example to

illustrate the subsequent measurement of a right-of-use asset and lease liability in a sale and leaseback transaction

with variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate. The illustrative examples also clarify that the

liability that arises from a sale and leaseback transaction that qualifies as a sale applying IFRS 15 is a lease liability.

A seller-lessee applies the amendments retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8 to sale and leaseback transactions

entered into after the date of initial application, which is defined as the beginning of the annual reporting period in

which the entity first applied IFRS 16.

The standards that are issued, but not yet effective, up to the date of issuance of the Company’s consolidated

financial statements are disclosed below. The Company intends to adopt these standards, if applicable, when they

become effective.

The amendments specify how to assess whether a currency is exchangeable, and how to determine the exchange rate

when it is not.

the first exchange rate at which an entity is able to obtain the other currency for the specified purpose after

exchangeability of the currency is restored (first subsequent exchange rate).

An entity using another estimation technique may use any observable exchange rate—including rates from exchange

transactions in markets or exchange mechanisms that do not create enforceable rights and obligations—and adjust

that rate, as necessary, to meet the objective as set out above.

When an entity estimates a spot exchange rate because a currency is not exchangeable into another currency, the

entity is required to disclose information that enables users of its financial statements to understand how the

currency not being exchangeable into the other currency affects, or is expected to affect, the entity’s financial

performance, financial position and cash flows.

The group has adopted the amendments to IFRS 16 for the first time in the current year.

The amendments do not affect the gain or loss recognised by the seller-lessee relating to the partial or full

termination of a lease. Without these new requirements, a seller-lessee may have recognised a gain on the right of

use it retains solely because of a remeasurement of the lease liability (for example, following a lease modification or

change in the lease term) applying the general requirements in IFRS 16. This could have been particularly the case in

a leaseback that includes variable lease payments that do not depend on an index or rate.

22



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

•

•

•

•

•

•

•

An entity is required to apply IFRS 18 for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027, with earlier

application permitted. The amendments to IAS 7 and IAS 33, as well as the revised IAS 8 and IFRS 7, become

effective when an entity applies IFRS 18. IFRS 18 requires retrospective application with specific transition

provisions.

Management anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the group’s consolidated

financial statements in future periods.

 Amendments to the Classification and Measurement of Financial Instruments – Amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 

7

On 30 May 2024, the IASB issued targeted amendments to IFRS 9 and IFRS 7 to respond to recent questions arising

in practice, and to include new requirements not only for financial institutions but also for corporate entities. These

amendments:

clarify the date of recognition and derecognition of some financial assets and liabilities, with a new exception for

some financial liabilities settled through an electronic cash transfer system;

clarify and add further guidance for assessing whether a financial asset meets the solely payments of principal

and interest (SPPI) criterion;

add new disclosures for certain instruments with contractual terms that can change cash flows (such as some

financial instruments with features linked to the achievement of environment, social and governance targets);

andupdate the disclosures for equity instruments designated at fair value through other comprehensive income

(FVOCI).

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2026, with earlier

application permitted. Management does not expect these amendments to have a material impact on its operations

or financial statements.

The amendments add a new appendix as an integral part of IAS 21. The appendix includes application guidance on

the requirements introduced by the amendments. The amendments also add new Illustrative Examples

accompanying IAS 21, which illustrate how an entity might apply some of the requirements in hypothetical situations

based on the limited facts presented.

Management anticipate that the application of these amendments may have an impact on the group’s consolidated

financial statements in future periods.

IFRS 18 Presentation and Disclosures in Financial Statements

Amendments to IAS 21 The Effects of Changes in Foreign Exchange Rates titled Lack of Exchangeability 

(continued)

In addition, the IASB made consequential amendments to IFRS 1 to align with and refer to the revised IAS 21 for

assessing exchangeability.

IFRS 18 replaces IAS 1, carrying forward many of the requirements in IAS 1 unchanged and complementing them

with new requirements. In addition, some IAS 1 paragraphs have been moved to IAS 8 and IFRS 7. Furthermore, the

IASB has made minor amendments to IAS 7 and IAS 33 Earnings per Share.

IFRS 18 introduces new requirements to:

present specified categories and defined subtotals in the statement of profit or loss

provide disclosures on management-defined performance measures (MPMs) in the notes to the financial

statements

improve aggregation and disaggregation.

The amendments are effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2025, with earlier

application permitted. An entity is not permitted to apply the amendments retrospectively. Instead, an entity is

required to apply the specific transition provisions included in the amendments.
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Standards issued but not yet effective (continued)

•

•

•

A subsidiary has public accountability if:

•

•

Presentation of the financial statements

• buildings and leasehold improvements 10-50 years

• furniture and fixtures 5-10 years

• equipment 3-10 years

• vehicles 3 - 5 years

The new standard is effective for reporting periods beginning on or after 1 January 2027 with earlier application

permitted. If an entity elects to apply IFRS 19 for a reporting period earlier than the reporting period in which it first

applies IFRS 18, it is required to apply a modified set of disclosure requirements set out in an appendix to IFRS 19. If

an entity elects to apply IFRS 19 for an annual reporting period before it applied the amendments to IAS 21, it is not

required to apply the disclosure requirements in IFRS 19 with regard to Lack of Exchangeability.

IFRS 19 permits an eligible subsidiary to provide reduced disclosures when applying IFRS Accounting Standards in

its financial statements.

A subsidiary is eligible for the reduced disclosures if it does not have public accountability and its ultimate or any

intermediate parent produces consolidated financial statements available for public use that comply with IFRS

Accounting Standards.

IFRS 19 is optional for subsidiaries that are eligible and sets out the disclosure requirements for subsidiaries that

elect to apply it.

An entity is only permitted to apply IFRS 19 if, at the end of the reporting period:

its ultimate or any intermediate parent produces consolidated financial statements available for public use that

comply with IFRS Accounting Standards.

its debt or equity instruments are traded in a public market or it is in the process of issuing such instruments for

trading in a public market (a domestic or foreign stock exchange or an over-the-counter market, including local

and regional markets), or

it holds assets in a fiduciary capacity for a broad group of outsiders as one of its primary businesses (for example,

banks, credit unions, insurance entities, securities brokers/dealers, mutual funds and investment banks often

meet this second criterion).

Management anticipates that IFRS 19 will be applicable when adopted as the Company is a subsidiary whose

ultimate parent produces full IFRS financial statements.

IFRS 19 Subsidiaries without Public Accountability: Disclosures

it is a subsidiary (this includes an intermediate parent)

 it does not have public accountability, and

Eligible entities can apply IFRS 19 in their consolidated, separate or individual financial statements. An eligible

intermediate parent that does not apply IFRS 19 in its consolidated financial statement may do so in its separate

financial statements.

Property and equipment, except for land, buildings and improvements, are stated at cost net of accumulated

depreciation and impairment losses. Depreciation is determined on the straight-line basis based on the estimated

useful life of the assets and an eventual residual value has been taken into consideration.

Depreciation is charged to the statement of profit or loss. Land is not depreciated. The estimated useful lives are as

follows:

Summary of material accounting policies

These financial statements are presented in AWG, which is the Company's functional currency. All financial

information presented in AWG has been rounded to the nearest dollar, except when otherwise indicated.

Property and equipment

Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each reporting date and adjusted if

appropriate.
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•

•

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities

Recognition and initial measurement

The Company recognises deposits with financial institutions and loans and borrowings on the date on which they are

originated. All other financial instruments (including regular-way purchases and sales of financial assets) are

recognised on the trade date, which is the date on which the Company becomes a party to the contractual provisions

of the instrument.

A financial asset or financial liability is initially measured at fair value plus, for a financial asset or financial liability

not measured at FVTPL, transaction costs that are directly attributable to its acquisition or issue.

Classification and subsequent measurement

Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

Property and equipment 

Financial assets are not reclassified subsequent to their initial recognition unless the Company changes its business

model for managing financial assets, in which case all affected financial assets are reclassified on the first day of the

first reporting period following the change in the business model.

A financial asset is measured at amortised cost if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at

FVTPL:

It is held within a business model whose objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and

Classification

On initial recognition, a financial asset is classified as measured at amortised cost, FVOCI or FVTPL.

Land, buildings and improvements are measured on initial recognition at cost. Following initial recognition at cost,

land, buildings and improvements are carried at revalued amount, which is the fair value at the date of the

revaluation less any subsequent accumulated depreciation on buildings and improvements and subsequent

accumulated impairment losses. Impairment reviews are performed when there are indications that the carrying

value may not be recoverable. A revaluation surplus is recorded in other comprehensive income and credited to the

asset revaluation surplus in equity. Impairment losses are recognized in the statement of other comprehensive

income to the extent of any credit balance existing in the revaluation reserve in respect of that asset. Additional

decrease as a result of revaluation shall be recognized in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income.

When the use of a property changes from owner-occupied to investment property, the property is remeasured to fair

value and reclassified accordingly. Any gain arising on remeasurement is recognized in profit or loss to the extent

that it reverses a previous impairment loss on the specific property, with any remaining gain recognized in OCI and

presented in the revaluation reserve. Any loss is recognized in profit or loss.

Under the IAS 16 revaluation model, IFRS requires that land, buildings and improvements carried at fair value are

remeasured to their fair value at the end of each reporting period. Nevertheless based on management experience,

the valuation of land and buildings included in this category does not significantly change on an annual basis, hence

management has decided to perform valuations every three (3) years by an accredited external, independent

appraiser, unless there are impairment indications, in which case valuation will be performed when such indications

are identified. An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs to sell and its value in use.

The recoverable amount is determined for an individual asset, unless the asset does not generate cash inflows that

are largely independent of those from other assets or groups of assets. Where the carrying amount of an asset

exceeds its recoverable amount, the asset is considered impaired and is written down to its recoverable amount. In

assessing value in use, the estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount

rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset. In

determining fair value less costs to sell, recent market transactions are taken into account, if available. If no such

transactions can be identified, an appropriate valuation model is used. These calculations are corroborated by

valuation multiples, quoted share prices for publicly traded subsidiaries or other available fair value indicators.

Financial assets not derecognised before 1 January 2024

Revaluation and impairment of non-financial 
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Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

A financial asset is measured at FVOCI if it meets both of the following conditions and is not designated as at FVTPL:

It is held within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual cash flows and

selling financial assets; and

Its contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash flows that are SPPI.

The Company elects to present changes in the fair value of certain equity investments that are not held for trading in

OCI. The election is made on an instrument-by-instrument basis on initial recognition and is irrevocable.

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Business model assessment

Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

the risks that affect the performance of the business model (and the financial assets held within that business

model) and how those risks are managed;

Certain debt securities are held in separate portfolios for long-term yield. These securities may be sold, but such sales

are not expected to be more than infrequent. The Company considers that these securities are held within a business

model whose objective is to hold assets to collect the contractual cash flows.

the frequency, volume and timing of sales in prior periods, the reasons for such sales and expectations about

future sales activity. However, information about sales activity is not considered in isolation, but as part of an

overall assessment of how the Company’s stated objective for managing the financial assets is achieved and how

cash flows are realised.

Transfers of financial assets to third parties in transactions that do not qualify for derecognition are not considered

sales for this purpose, consistent with the Company’s continuing recognition of the assets.

For a majority of debt investments, the objective of the Company’s business model is to fund insurance contract

liabilities. The Company undertakes significant buying and selling activity on a regular basis to rebalance its portfolio

of assets and to ensure that contractual cash flows from the financial assets are sufficient to settle insurance contract

liabilities. The Company determines that both collecting contractual cash flows as they come due and selling financial

assets to maintain the desired asset profile are integral to achieving the business model’s objective.

The Company assesses the objective of the business model in which a financial asset is held for each portfolio of

financial assets because this best reflects the way that the business is managed and information is provided to

management. The information considered includes:

The Company’s interests in some associates are underlying items of participating contracts. The Company has elected

to measure these investments at FVTPL because it manages them on a fair value basis.

Portfolios of financial assets that are managed and whose performance is evaluated on a fair value basis, which

include underlying items of participating contracts, and portfolios of financial assets that are held for trading are

measured at FVTPL because they are neither held to collect contractual cash flows nor held both to collect

contractual cash flows and to sell financial assets.

how managers of the business are compensated (e.g. whether compensation is based on the fair value of the

assets managed or the contractual cash flows collected); and

the stated policies and objectives for the portfolio and the operation of those policies in practice, including

whether management’s strategy focuses on earning contractual interest income, maintaining a particular interest

rate profile, matching the duration of the financial assets to the duration of any related liabilities or expected cash

outflows or realising cash flows through the sale of assets;

All financial assets not classified as measured at amortised cost or FVOCI as described above are measured at FVTPL. 

In addition, on initial recognition the Company may irrevocably designate a financial asset that otherwise meets the

requirements to be measured at amortised cost or at FVOCI as at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly

reduces an accounting mismatch that would otherwise arise.

The Company has designated certain debt investments in the participating and non-life segments as at FVTPL on

initial recognition, because they relate to insurance contracts that are measured in a way that incorporates current

information and all related insurance finance income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss. The assets would

otherwise be measured at FVOCI.

how the performance of the portfolio is evaluated and reported to the Company’s management;
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Measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest income,

foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss. Any

gain or loss on derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss

Financial assets at FVTPL

Measured at fair value. Dividends are recognised as income in profit or loss when the

Company’s right to receive payment is established, unless they clearly represent a

recovery of part of the cost of the investment. Other net gains and losses are recognised

in OCI and are never reclassified to profit or loss. Cumulative gains and losses

recognised in OCI are transferred to retained earnings on disposal of an investment.

Financial assets at 

amortised cost

Equity investments at 

FVOCI

In assessing whether the contractual cash flows are SPPI, the Company considers the contractual terms of the

instrument. This includes assessing whether the financial asset contains a contractual term that could change the

timing or amount of contractual cash flows such that it would not meet this condition. In making this assessment, the

Company considers:

Measured at fair value. Interest income calculated using the effective interest method,

foreign exchange gains and losses and impairment are recognised in profit or loss.

Other net gains and losses are recognised in OCI and accumulated in the fair value

reserve. On derecognition, gains and losses accumulated in OCI are reclassified to

profit or loss.

terms that limit the Company’s claim to cash flows from specified assets (e.g. non-recourse asset arrangements);

and

features that modify consideration for the time value of money (e.g. periodic reset of interest rates).

Debt investments at FVOCI

leverage features;

prepayment and extension features;

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Assessment of whether contractual cash flows are SPPI

For the purposes of this assessment, principal is defined as the fair value of the financial asset on initial recognition.

However, the principal may change over time – e.g. if there are repayments of principal.

Interest is defined as consideration for the time value of money, for the credit risk associated with the principal

amount outstanding during a particular period of time and for other basic lending risks and costs (e.g. liquidity risk

and administrative costs), as well as a profit margin.

contingent events that would change the amount or timing of cash flows;

Some prepayment features permit the debtor to prepay the debt instrument at an amount calculated as the

remaining contractual cash flows discounted at the current market benchmark interest rate plus a fixed spread. The

Company has determined that these prepayment features are consistent with the SPPI criterion. Because the

Company would be compensated only for the change in the market benchmark interest rate and for lost interest

margin, the prepayment penalty would not include any non-SPPI risks and may be seen as reasonable compensation.

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

A prepayment feature is consistent with the SPPI criterion if the prepayment amount substantially represents unpaid

amounts of principal and interest on the principal amount outstanding, which may include reasonable compensation

for early termination of the contract. In addition, for a financial asset acquired at a premium or discount to its

contractual par amount, a feature that permits or requires prepayment at an amount that substantially represents

the contractual par amount plus accrued (but unpaid) contractual interest (which may also include reasonable

compensation for early termination) is treated as consistent with this criterion if the fair value of the prepayment

feature is insignificant on initial recognition.

Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

Measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest or dividend income

and foreign exchange gains and losses, are recognised in profit or loss, unless they arise

from derivatives designated as hedging instruments in net investment hedges
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Financial liabilities

Classification

The Company classifies its financial liabilities, other than financial guarantees (see (vii)), into one of the following

categories:

financial liabilities at FVTPL, and within this category as:

> held-for-trading;

> designated as at FVTPL; and

financial liabilities at amortised cost.

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is its amortised cost before adjusting for any loss allowance.

Interest expenses are calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised

cost of the liability. When calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates

future cash flows considering all contractual terms of the liability.

If the financial asset has become credit-impaired subsequent to initial recognition, then

interest income is calculated by applying the effective interest rate to the amortised

cost of the asset. If the asset is no longer credit-impaired, then the calculation of

interest income reverts to the gross basis.

Interest income is calculated by applying a credit-adjusted effective interest rate to the

amortised cost of the asset. The credit-adjusted effective interest rate is calculated

using estimated future cash flows including ECL. The calculation of interest income

does not revert to a gross basis, even if the credit risk of the asset improves.

Financial liabilities

Financial liabilities at 

FVTPL

If the financial asset is not credit-impaired, then interest income is calculated by

applying the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount of the asset. When

calculating the effective interest rate, the Company estimates future cash flows

considering all contractual terms of the asset, but not ECL.

Subsequent measurement and gains and losses

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities at 

amortised cost

Measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. Interest expenses and

foreign exchange gains and losses are recognised in profit or loss. Any gain or loss on

derecognition is also recognised in profit or loss.

Interest income and expenses are recognised in profit or loss using the effective interest method. The effective

interest rate is calculated on initial recognition of a financial instrument and is the rate that exactly discounts

estimated future cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the  financial instrument to:

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities at 

FVTPL

Measured at fair value. Net gains and losses, including any interest expenses and

foreign exchange gains and losses, are recognised in profit or loss, unless they arise

from derivatives designated as hedging instruments in net investment hedges.

the gross carrying amount of the financial asset; or

the amortised cost of the financial liability.

The effective interest rate is revised as a result of periodic re-estimation of cash flows of floating rate instruments to

reflect movements in market rates of interest.

The amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability is the amount at which the financial asset or financial

liability is measured on initial recognition minus the principal repayments, plus or minus the cumulative

amortisation using the effective interest method of any difference between that initial amount and the maturity

amount and, for financial assets, adjusted for any loss allowance.

Financial assets credit-

impaired on initial 

recognition

> derivative hedging instruments; or

The Company has designated investment contract liabilities and third party interests in consolidated funds as at

FVTPL on initial recognition. This is because these liabilities as well as the related assets are managed and their

performance is evaluated on a fair value basis.
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In all cases, the maximum period considered when estimating ECL is the maximum contractual period over which

the Company is exposed to credit risk.

Measurement of ECL

ECL are a probability-weighted estimate of credit losses. Credit losses are measured as the present value of all cash

shortfalls (i.e. the difference between the cash flows due to the Company in accordance with the contract and the

cash flows that the Company expects to receive).

Credit-impaired financial assets

At each reporting date, the Company assesses whether financial assets measured at amortised cost, debt investments

at FVOCI and lease receivables are credit-impaired. A financial asset is credit impaired when one or more events that

have a detrimental impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset have occurred.

Impairment

Financial assets not derecognised before 1 January 2024

The Company recognises loss allowances for ECL on:

The calculation of the effective interest rate includes transaction costs and fees and points paid or received that are

an integral part of the effective interest rate. Transaction costs are incremental costs that are directly attributable to

the acquisition or issue of a financial asset or financial liability.

other financial instruments (other than lease receivables) for which credit risk has not increased significantly

since initial recognition.

The Company measures loss allowances at an amount equal to lifetime ECL, except in the following cases, for which

the amount recognised is 12-month ECL:

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Classification and subsequent measurement (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

the disappearance of an active market for a security because of financial difficulties.

Loss allowances for lease receivables are always measured at an amount equal to lifetime ECL.

Financial instruments for which 12-month ECL are recognised are referred to as ‘Stage 1 financial instruments’. 12-

month ECL are the portion of ECL that result from default events on a financial instrument that are possible within

the 12 months after the reporting date.

Financial instruments for which lifetime ECL are recognised because of a significant increase in credit risk since

initial recognition but that are not credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 2 financial instruments’. Lifetime ECL are

the ECL that result from all possible default events over the expected life of the financial instrument.

Evidence that a financial asset is credit-impaired includes the following observable data:

Financial instruments for which lifetime ECL are recognised and that are credit-impaired are referred to as ‘Stage 3

financial instruments’.

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method and other finance costs presented in profit or loss

include interest on financial assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost and debt investments

measured at FVOCI.

financial assets measured at amortised cost;

debt investments measured at FVOCI; and

a breach of contract such as a default or past-due event;

the restructuring of an amount due to the Company on terms that the Company would not otherwise consider;

the debtor entering bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation becoming probable; or

significant financial difficulty of the debtor;

debt securities that are determined to have low credit risk at the reporting date; and

lease receivables.
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The Company derecognises a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the financial asset

expire, or it transfers the rights to receive the contractual cash flows in a transaction in which substantially all of the

risks and rewards of ownership of the financial asset are transferred or in which the Company neither transfers nor

retains substantially all of the risks and rewards of ownership and it does not retain control of the financial asset.

On derecognition of a financial asset, the difference between the carrying amount at the date of derecognition and the 

consideration received (including any new asset obtained less any new liability assumed) is recognised in profit or

loss. For debt investments at FVOCI and financial assets that had already been derecognised at 1 January 2023, the

cumulative gain or loss previously recognised in OCI is reclassified from equity to profit or loss. The cumulative gain

or loss on equity investments designated as at FVOCI is not reclassified to profit or loss.

A financial asset that has been renegotiated due to a deterioration in the borrower’s condition is usually considered

to be credit-impaired unless there is evidence that the risk of not receiving contractual cash flows has reduced

significantly and there are no other indicators of impairment.

In assessing whether an investment in sovereign debt is credit-impaired, the Company considers the following

factors:

the market’s assessment of creditworthiness as reflected in bond yields;

the rating agencies’ assessments of creditworthiness;

the country’s ability to access the capital markets for new debt issuance;

the probability of debt being restructured, resulting in holders suffering losses through voluntary or mandatory

debt forgiveness; and

Presentation of loss allowances in the statement of financial position

the international support mechanisms in place to provide the necessary support as ‘lender of last resort’ to that

country, as well as the intention, reflected in public statements, of governments and agencies to use those

mechanisms, including an assessment of the depth of those mechanisms and, irrespective of the political intent,

whether there is the capacity to fulfil the required criteria.

Derecognition and contract modification

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Credit-impaired financial assets (continued)

Financial assets

Although the Company expects no significant recovery from amounts written off, financial assets that are written off

could still be subject to enforcement activities in order to comply with the Company’s procedures for recovery of

amounts due.

debt investments measured at FVOCI: the loss allowance does not reduce the carrying amount of the financial

assets (which are measured at fair value) but gives rise to an equal and opposite gain in OCI.

The Company enters into transactions whereby it transfers assets recognised in its statement of financial position,

but retains either all or substantially all of the risks and rewards of the transferred assets. In these cases, the

transferred assets are not derecognised. Examples of such transactions are securities lending and sale-and-

repurchase transactions.

Loss allowances for ECL are presented as follows:

financial assets measured at amortised cost: the loss allowance is deducted from the gross carrying amount of the

assets; and

The gross carrying amount of a financial asset is written off when the Company has no reasonable expectations of

recovering a financial asset in its entirety or a portion thereof. This is generally the case when the Company

determines that the borrower does not have assets or sources of income that could generate sufficient cash flows to

repay the amounts subject to the write-off. This assessment is carried out at the individual asset level.

Write-off

Impairment (continued)
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Derecognition and contract modification (continued)

Financial assets (continued)

Financial liabilities

If a financial asset measured at amortised cost or FVOCI is modified but not substantially, then the financial asset is

not derecognised. If the asset had not been derecognised at 1 January 2024, then the Company recalculates the gross

carrying amount of the financial asset by discounting the modified contractual cash flows at the original effective

interest rate and recognises the resulting adjustment to the gross carrying amount as a modification gain or loss in

profit or loss. For floating-rate financial assets, the original effective interest rate used to calculate the modification

gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification. If such a modification is

carried out because of financial difficulties of the borrower, then the gain or loss is presented together with

impairment losses; in other cases, it is presented as interest revenue. Any costs or fees incurred and modification fees

received adjust the gross carrying amount of the modified financial asset and are amortised over the remaining term

of the modified financial asset.

The Company generally derecognises a financial liability when its contractual obligations expire or are discharged or

cancelled. The Company also derecognises a financial liability when its terms are modified and the cash flows of the

modified liability are substantially different, in which case a new financial liability based on the modified terms is

recognised at fair value.

On derecognition of a financial liability, the difference between the carrying amount extinguished and the

consideration paid (including any non-cash assets transferred or liabilities assumed) is recognised in profit or loss.

Notwithstanding the above, when, and only when, the Company repurchases its financial liability and includes it as

an underlying item of direct participating contracts, the Company may elect not to derecognise the financial liability.

Instead, the Company may elect to continue to account for that instrument as a financial liability and to account for

the repurchased instrument as if it were a financial asset and measure it at FVTPL. This election is irrevocable and is

made on an instrument-by-instrument basis.

In transactions in which the Company neither retains nor transfers substantially all of the risks and rewards of

ownership of a financial asset and it retains control over the asset, the Company continues to recognise the asset to

the extent of its continuing involvement, determined by the extent to which it is exposed to changes in the value of

the transferred asset.

If the terms of a financial asset are modified, then the Company evaluates whether the cash flows of the modified

asset are substantially different. If the cash flows are substantially different, then the contractual rights to cash flows

from the original financial asset are deemed to have expired. In this case, the original financial asset is derecognised

and a new financial asset is recognised at fair value plus any eligible transaction costs. Any fees received as part of the

modification are accounted for as follows.

Fees that are considered in determining the fair value of the new asset and fees that represent reimbursement of

eligible transaction costs are included in the initial measurement of the new asset.

Other fees are included in profit or loss as part of the gain or loss on derecognition.

If cash flows are modified when the debtor is in financial difficulties, then the objective of the modification is usually

to maximise recovery of the original contractual cash flows rather than to originate a new asset with substantially

different terms. If the Company plans to modify a financial asset in a way that would result in forgiveness of cash

flows, then it first considers whether a portion of the asset should be written off before the modification takes place.

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)
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Key types of insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held

Definitions and classifications

Cash and cash equivalents include cash balances and call deposits with original maturities of three months or less

from the date of acquisition that are subject to an insignificant risk of changes in their fair value, and are used by the

Company in the management of its short-term commitments.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount presented in the statement of financial position

when, and only when, the Company currently has a legally enforceable right to set off the amounts and it intends

either to settle them on a net basis or to realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Income and expenses are presented on a net basis only when it is required or permitted by a standard – e.g. gains

and losses arising from a group of similar transactions such as the gains and losses on financial assets measured at

FVTPL.

Bank overdrafts that are repayable on demand and form an integral part of the Company’s cash management are

included as a component of cash and cash equivalents for the purposes of the statement of cash flows.

Offsetting

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Financial liabilities (continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Financial assets and financial liabilities (continued)

Derecognition and contract modification (continued)

Insurance contracts

Products sold by the Company are classified as insurance contracts when the Company accepts significant insurance

risk from a policyholder by agreeing to compensate the policyholder if a specified uncertain future event adversely

affects the policyholder.

The Company accounts for these contracts applying the Premium Allocation Approach (PAA).

The Company issues the following types of contracts that are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 17 Insurance

Contracts.

The healthcare products provide medical cover to policyholders.

Property insurance contracts mainly compensate the Company’s customers for damage suffered to their properties or

for the value of property lost. Customers who undertake commercial activities on their premises could also receive

compensation for the loss of earnings caused by the inability to use the insured properties in their business activities

(business interruption cover).

Casualty insurance contracts protect the Company’s customers against the risk of causing harm to third parties as a

result of their legitimate activities. Damages covered include both contractual and non-contractual events. The

typical protection offered is designed for employers who become legally liable to pay compensation to injured

employees (employers’ liability) and for individual and business customers who become liable to pay compensation

to a third party for bodily harm or property damage (public liability).

If a financial liability measured at amortised cost is modified but not substantially, then it is not derecognised.

For financial liabilities that had not been derecognised at 1 January 2024, the Company recalculates the

amortised cost of the financial liability by discounting the modified contractual cash flows at the original effective

interest rate and recognises any resulting adjustment to the amortised cost as a modification gain or loss in ‘other

finance costs’ in profit or loss. For floating-rate financial liabilities, the original effective interest rate used to

calculate the modification gain or loss is adjusted to reflect current market terms at the time of the modification.

Any costs and fees incurred adjust the carrying amount of the modified financial liability and are amortised over

the remaining term of the modified financial liability.

For financial liabilities that had been derecognised at 1 January 2024, the Company recognised any difference in

present value as an adjustment to the effective interest rate and amortised it over the remaining life of the

modified financial liability, with no immediate gain or loss recognised.
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Combining a set or series of contracts

•

•

Level of aggregation

•

•

•

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Insurance contracts (continued)

Sometimes, the Company enters into two or more contracts at the same time with the same or related counterparties

to achieve an overall commercial effect. The Company accounts for such a set of contracts as a single insurance

contract when this reflects the substance of the contracts. When making this assessment, the Company considers

whether:

The Company identifies portfolios by aggregating insurance contracts that are subject to similar risks and managed

together. In grouping insurance contracts into portfolios, the Company considers the similarity of risks rather than

the specific labelling of product lines. The Company has determined that all contracts within each product line, as

defined for management purposes, have similar risks. Therefore, when contracts are managed together, they

represent a portfolio of contracts. Some products issued by different entities within the Company are considered as

being managed at the issuing entity level. This is because the management of the solvency capital management,

which supports the issuance of these contracts, is ringfenced within these entities. 

The Company may acquire insurance contracts as part of a business combination or a portfolio transfer. Unlike

originally issued contracts, contracts acquired in a settlement phase transfer an insurance risk of adverse claims

development. The Company considers such risk to be different from contracts it originally issues and aggregates such

contracts in separate portfolios by product line. 

Each portfolio is subdivided into groups of contracts to which the recognition and measurement requirements of

IFRS 17 are applied. 

At initial recognition, the Company segregates contracts based on when they were issued. A cohort contains all

contracts that were issued within a 12-month period. Each cohort is then further disaggregated into three groups of

contracts:

Contracts that are onerous on initial recognition

Contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently

Any remaining contracts

The determination of whether a contract or a group of contracts is onerous is based on the expectations as at the date

of initial recognition, with fulfilment cash flow expectations determined on a probability-weighted basis. The

Company determines the appropriate level at which reasonable and supportable information is available to assess

whether the contracts are onerous at initial recognition and whether the contracts not onerous at initial recognition

have a significant possibility of becoming onerous subsequently. The Company applies significant judgement in

determining at what level of granularity the Company has sufficient information to conclude that all contracts within

a set will be in the same group. In the absence of such information, the Company assesses each contract individually.

This assessment is made on a contract-by-contract basis at the contract issue date. In making this assessment, the

Company considers all its substantive rights and obligations, whether they arise from contract, law or regulation.

The rights and obligations are different when looked at together compared to when looked at individually.

The Company is unable to measure one contract without considering the other

The Company determines whether a contract contains significant insurance risk by assessing if an insured event

could cause the Company to pay to the policyholder additional amounts that are significant in any single scenario

with commercial substance even if the insured event is extremely unlikely or the expected present value of the

contingent cash flows is a small proportion of the expected present value of the remaining cash flows from the

insurance contract.

The composition of groups established at initial recognition is not subsequently reassessed.

For motor and home insurance contracts accounted for applying the PAA, the Company determines that contracts

are not onerous on initial recognition, unless there are facts and circumstances indicating otherwise. The Company

assesses the likelihood of changes in applicable facts and circumstances to determine whether contracts not onerous

on initial recognition belong to a group with no significant possibility of becoming onerous in the future. 
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Level of aggregation (continued)

Recognition

•
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•

Contract boundaries

The date when the first payment from a policyholder in the group becomes due (in the absence of a contractual

due date, this is deemed to be when the first payment is received)

In determining which cash flows fall within a contract boundary, the Company considers its substantive rights and

obligations arising from the terms of the contract, and from applicable laws, regulations and customary business

practices. The Company determines that cash flows are within the boundary of a contract if they arise from

substantive rights and obligations that exist during the reporting period in which the Company can compel the

policyholder to pay the premiums or the Company has a substantive obligation to provide the policyholder with

insurance contract services.

A substantive obligation to provide insurance contract services ends when the Company has the practical ability to

reassess the risks of a particular policyholder and, as a result, to change the price charged or the level of benefits

provided for the price to fully reflect the new level of risk. If the boundary assessment is performed at a portfolio

rather than individual contract level, the Company must have the practical ability to reprice the portfolio to fully

reflect risk from all policyholders. The Company’s pricing must not take into account any risks beyond the next

reassessment date.

In determining whether all risks have been reflected either in the premium or in the level of benefits, the Company

considers all risks that policyholders would transfer had the Company issued the contracts (or portfolio of contracts)

at the reassessment date. Similarly, the Company concludes on its practical ability to set a price that fully reflects the

risks in the contract or portfolio at a renewal date by considering all the risks it would assess when underwriting

equivalent contracts on the renewal date for the remaining service. The assessment on the Company’s practical

ability to reprice existing contracts takes into account all contractual, legal and regulatory restrictions. In doing so,

the Company disregards restrictions that have no commercial substance. The Company also considers the impact of

market competitiveness and commercial considerations on its practical ability to price new contracts and repricing

existing contracts. The Company exercises judgement in deciding whether such commercial considerations are

relevant in concluding as to whether the practical ability exists at the reporting date.

The measurement of a group of insurance contracts includes all future cash flows expected to arise within the

boundary of each contract in the group. 

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

When motor insurance contracts within a portfolio would only fall into different groups due to specific constraints

imposed by law or regulation on the Company’s practical ability to set a different price or level of benefits for male

and female policyholders, the Company nevertheless includes those contracts in the same group.

The Company recognises groups of insurance contracts issued from the earliest of the following dates:

The beginning of the coverage period of the group of contracts

The date when a group of contracts becomes onerous

The Company recognises only contracts issued within a one-year period meeting the recognition criteria by the

reporting date. Subject to this limit, a group of insurance contracts can remain open after the end of the current

reporting period. New contracts are included in the group when they meet the recognition criteria in subsequent

reporting periods until such time that all contracts expected to be included within the group have been recognised.

If facts and circumstances indicate that some contracts may be onerous at initial recognition or the group of contracts

has become onerous, the Company performs a quantitative assessment to assess whether the carrying amount of the

liability for remaining coverage determined applying the PAA is less than the fulfilment cash flows related to

remaining coverage determined applying the General Model. If the fulfilment cash flows related to remaining

coverage determined applying the General Model exceed the PAA carrying amount of the liability for remaining

coverage, the difference is recognised in profit or loss and the liability for remaining coverage is increased by the

same amount. 

Insurance contracts (continued)
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Contract boundaries (continued)

Insurance contracts measured under the premium allocation approach

•

•

Onerous contracts

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Insurance contracts (continued)

For both motor and home insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held, the carrying amount of the LIC

is measured applying the General Model, except that:

The Company has determined that there is no significant financing component in motor and home insurance

contracts with a coverage period of one year or less. The Company does not discount the liability for remaining

coverage to reflect the time value of money and financial risk for such insurance contracts.

The Company also applies the PAA to the all-quota share home and motor reinsurance contracts held. The coverage

period of such reinsurance contracts held is 15 months or less. As the coverage period exceeds one year, the Company

at initial recognition assesses whether the PAA is a reasonable approximation of the General Model.

For motor and home reinsurance contracts held with a coverage period longer than one year, the Company exercises

judgement to determine whether a significant financing component exists. For groups of reinsurance contracts held

with a significant financing component, the Company adjusts the LRC for the time value of money using discount

rates determined at initial recognition.

When facts and circumstances indicate that a group of contracts has become onerous, the Company performs a test

for onerousness. If the amount of the fulfilment cash flows exceeds the carrying amount of the LRC, the Company

recognises the amount of the difference as a loss in profit or loss and increases the LRC for the corresponding

amount.

Premiums due to the Company for insurance contract services already provided in the period but not yet received at

the end of the reporting period are included in the LRC. The carrying amount of the LRC at the end of each

subsequent reporting period represents the carrying amount at the start of the reporting period adjusted for the

premiums received in the period and the amount recognised as insurance revenue for insurance contract services

provided in that period.

The Company applies the PAA to the measurement of motor and home insurance contracts with a coverage period of

each contract in the group of one year or less.

On initial recognition, the Company measures the LRC at the amount of premiums received in cash. As all issued

insurance contracts to which the PAA is applied have coverage of a year or less, the Company applies a policy of

deferring all insurance acquisition cash flows which are then expensed as they are incurred. 

For claims that the Company expects to be paid within one year or less from the date of incurrence, the Company

does not adjust future cash flows for the time value of money and the effects of financial risks.

For claims expected to take more than one year to settle are discounted applying the discount rate at the time the

incurred claim is initially recognised.

Applying the PAA, the insurance revenue is measured at the amount allocated from the expected premium receipts

excluding any investment component. The allocation is done on the basis of the passage of time. The Company

applies judgement in determining the basis of allocation. 

The Company assesses the contract boundary at initial recognition and at each subsequent reporting date to include

the effect of changes in circumstances on the Company’s substantive rights and obligations.

The Company considers an insurance contract to be onerous if the expected fulfilment cash flows allocated to the

contract, any previously recognised acquisition cash flows and any cash flows arising from the contract at the date of

initial recognition in total result in a net cash outflow.
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Onerous contracts (continued)

•

•

•

•

•

•

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Insurance contracts (continued)

After the loss component is recognised, the Company allocates any subsequent changes in fulfilment cash flows of

the LRC on a systematic basis between the loss component and the LRC excluding the loss component.

For groups of onerous contracts, without direct participating features, the Company uses locked-in discount rates.

They are determined at initial recognition to calculate the changes in the estimate of future cash flows relating to

future service (both changes in a loss component and reversals of a loss component).

For all issued contracts, other than those accounted for applying the PAA, the subsequent changes in the fulfilment

cash flows of the LRC to be allocated are:

Insurance finance income or expense.

The Company determines the systematic allocation of insurance service expenses incurred based on the percentage

of loss component to the total fulfilment cash outflows included in the LRC, including the risk adjustment for

nonfinancial risk, excluding any investment component amount.

Changes in risk adjustment for non-financial risk recognised in profit or loss representing release from risk in the

period.

Estimates of the present value of future cash flows for claims and expenses released from the LRC because of

incurred insurance service expenses in the period.

The allocation, based on the coverage units, of the portion of premiums that relates to the recovery of the

insurance acquisition cash flows.

All these amounts are accounted for as a reduction of the LRC excluding the loss component.

On initial recognition, the onerous assessment is done on an individual contract level assessing future expected cash

flows on a probability-weighted basis including a risk adjustment for non-financial risk. Contracts expected on initial

recognition to be loss-making are grouped together and such groups are measured and presented separately. Once

contracts are allocated to a group, they are not re-allocated to another group, unless they are substantively modified.

The Company disaggregates the total finance income or expenses between profit or loss or OCI. For any subsequent

changes in the fulfilment cash flows of the LRC, the total of insurance finance income or expenses is disaggregated

between profit or loss or OCI and allocated on a systematic basis between the loss component and the ‘LRC excluding

the loss component’.

Any subsequent decreases in fulfilment cash flows relating to future service allocated to the group (arising from

changes in estimates of future cash flows and the risk adjustments for non-financial risk) are allocated first to the

loss component only. Once it is exhausted, any further decreases in fulfilment cash flows relating to future service

results in the establishment of the group’s CSM. 

For onerous groups of contracts, revenue is calculated as the amount of insurance service expenses expected at the

beginning of the period that form part of revenue and reflects only:

The change in the risk adjustment for non-financial risk due to expected release from risk in the period

(excluding the amount systematically allocated to the loss component).

The estimates of the present value of future cash flows related to claims expected to incur in the period (excluding

the systematic allocation to the loss component).
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Onerous contracts (continued)

•

•

•

•

•

Recognition

•

•

•

•

•

In determining the timing of initial recognition of a reinsurance contract held, the Company assesses whether the

reinsurance contract’s terms provide protection on losses on a proportionate basis. The Company recognises a group

of reinsurance contracts held that provides proportionate coverage: 

At the start of the coverage period of that group of reinsurance contracts held

At the initial recognition of any of the underlying insurance contracts, whichever is later

The Company recognises a group of non-proportional reinsurance contracts at the earliest of the beginning of the

coverage period of the group or the date an underlying onerous group of contracts is recognised.

The boundary of a reinsurance contract held includes cash flows resulting from the underlying contracts covered by

the reinsurance contract held. This includes cash flows from insurance contracts that are expected to be issued by the

Company in the future if these contracts are expected to be issued within the boundary of the reinsurance contract

held.

Contracts that, on initial recognition, have no significant possibility of resulting in a net gain subsequently.

Any remaining reinsurance contracts held in the portfolio

For motor and home quota share reinsurance contracts held accounted for applying the PAA, the Company assumes

that all reinsurance contracts held in each portfolio will not result in a net gain on initial recognition, unless facts and

circumstances indicate otherwise.

The Company obtains certain elements of its reinsurance coverage on a group basis. The associated cost of this

reinsurance coverage is allocated to all subsidiaries and branches which benefit from such coverage. The method

used to allocate this coverage involves judgement and considers available information from both third-party and

internal sources. Management believes that the allocation basis used is appropriate.

The Company uses facultative and treaty reinsurance to mitigate some of its risk exposures. Reinsurance contracts

held are accounted for applying IFRS 17 when they meet the definition of an insurance contract. This includes the

condition that the contract must transfer significant insurance risk.

Reinsurance contracts transfer significant insurance risk only if they transfer to the reinsurer substantially all the

insurance risk relating to the reinsured portions of the underlying insurance contracts, even if a reinsurance contract

does not expose the issuer (reinsurer) to the possibility of a significant loss.

Reinsurance contracts held are accounted for separately from underlying insurance contracts issued and are assessed

on an individual contract basis. In aggregating reinsurance contracts held, the Company determines portfolios in the

same way as it determines portfolios of underlying insurance contracts issued. The Company considers that each

product line reinsured at the ceding entity level to be a separate portfolio. The Company disaggregates a portfolio of

its reinsurance contracts held into three groups of contracts:

Contracts that on initial recognition have a net gain.

The Company recognises amounts in insurance service expenses related to the loss component arising from:

Subsequent decreases in fulfilment cash flows that relate to future service and reduce the loss component until it

is exhausted.

For direct participating contracts only, subsequent decreases in the entity’s share of the fair value of the

underlying items, that result in or further increase the loss component.

For direct participating contracts only, subsequent increases in the entity’s share of the fair value of the

underlying items that reduce the loss component until it is exhausted.

Systematic allocation to the loss component arising both from changes in the risk adjustment for non-financial

risk and from incurred insurance services expenses.

Reinsurance contracts held

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Insurance contracts (continued)

Changes in fulfilment cash flows arising from changes in estimates related to future service that establish or

further increase the loss component.
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Reinsurance contracts held measured under the PAA

•

•

•

•

•

•

Reinsurance contracts held (continued)

> Is outside of the scope of IFRS 17.

> Results in a different insurance contract due to separating components from the host contract.

For insurance contracts accounted for applying the PAA, the Company adjusts insurance revenue prospectively from

the time of the contract modification.

The Company derecognises an insurance contract when, and only when the contract is:

Extinguished (when the obligation specified in the insurance contract expires or is discharged or cancelled).

Modified and the derecognition criteria are met.

> Would be included in a different group of contracts.

The original contract met the definition of an insurance contract with direct participating features, but the

modified contract no longer meets the definition.

The Company measures quota share motor and home reinsurance contracts by applying the PAA.

Under the PAA, the initial measurement of the asset for remaining coverage equals the reinsurance premium paid.

The Company measures the amount relating to remaining service by allocating the premium paid over the coverage

period of the group. For all reinsurance contracts held, the allocation is based on the passage of time, where claims

are seasonal and the allocation is based on the expected incidence of claims.

If the contract modification meets any of the conditions, the Company performs all assessments applicable at initial

recognition, derecognises the original contract and recognises the new modified contract as if it was entered for the

first time. 

If the contract modification does not meet any of the conditions, the Company treats the effect of the modification as

changes in the estimates of fulfilment cash flows.

Modification and derecognition

The Company derecognises the original contract and recognises the modified contract as a new contract, if the terms

of insurance contracts are modified and the following conditions are met:

If the modified terms were included at contract inception and the Company would have concluded that the

modified  contract:

Where the reinsurance contracts held covers a group of onerous underlying insurance contracts, the Company

adjusts the carrying amount of the asset for remaining coverage and recognises a gain when, in the same period, it

reports a loss on initial recognition of an onerous group of underlying insurance contracts or on addition of onerous

underlying insurance contracts to a group. The recognition of this gain results in the recognition for the loss recovery

component of the asset for the remaining coverage of a group of reinsurance contracts held.

When the Company derecognises an insurance contract from within a group of contracts, it:

Adjusts the fulfilment cash flows allocated to the group to eliminate the present value of the future cash flows and

risk adjustment for non-financial risk relating to the rights and obligations that have been derecognised from the

group.

> Results in a substantially different contract boundary.

The original contract was accounted for applying the PAA, but the modified contract no longer meets the PAA

eligibility criteria for that approach.

Cash flows are within the boundary of a reinsurance contract held, if they arise from the substantive rights and

obligations of the cedant that exist during the reporting period in which the Company is compelled to pay amounts to

the reinsurer or has a substantive right to receive services from the reinsurer.

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)
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Insurance revenue

Insurance service expenses

•

•

•

•

•

•

Income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held

•

•

The Company has presented separately in the statement of financial position the carrying amount of portfolios of

insurance contracts that are assets and those that are liabilities, and the portfolios of reinsurance contracts held that

are assets and those that are liabilities.

The Company includes any assets for insurance acquisition cash flows recognised before the corresponding groups of

insurance contracts are recognised in the carrying amount of the related portfolios of insurance contracts issued.

Changes in the LIC related to claims and expenses incurred in the period excluding repayment of investment

components.

When applying the PAA, the Company recognises insurance revenue for the period based on the passage of time by

allocating expected premium receipts including premium experience adjustments to each period of service. However,

when the expected pattern of release from risk during the coverage period differs significantly from the passage of

time, the premium receipts are allocated based on the expected pattern of incurred insurance service expenses.

The Company issues home insurance policies with different expected patterns of occurrence of claims. For those

groups of contracts, revenue is recognised based on the expected patterns of claim occurrence.

At the end of each reporting period, the Company considers whether there was a change in facts and circumstances

indicating a need to change, on a prospective basis, the premium receipt allocation due to changes in the expected

pattern of claim occurrence.

Insurance service expenses arising from a group of insurance contracts issued comprises:

The Company presents cash flows that are contingent on claims as part of the amount recovered from reinsurers.

The Company does not disaggregate the change in risk adjustment for non-financial risk between a financial and

nonfinancial portion. It includes the entire change as part of the insurance service result.

As the Company provides insurance services under a group of insurance contracts issued, it reduces its LRC and

recognises insurance revenue, which is measured at the amount of consideration the Company expects to be entitled

to in exchange for those services.

Changes in the LIC related to claims and expenses incurred in prior periods (related to past service).

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Other directly attributable insurance service expenses incurred in the period.

Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows, which is recognised at the same amount in both insurance

service expenses and insurance contract revenue.

Loss component of onerous groups of contracts initially recognised in the period

Changes in the LRC related to future service that do not adjust the CSM, because they are changes in the loss

components of onerous groups of contracts.

Presentation

The Company disaggregates the amounts recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive

income into an insurance service result sub-total that comprises insurance revenue and insurance service expenses

and, separately from the insurance service result, the 'net insurance finance income or expenses' sub-total. The

Company has voluntarily included the net insurance finance income or expenses line in another subtotal: net

insurance and investment result, which also includes the income from all the assets backing the Company's insurance

liabilities.

The Company presents income or expenses from a group of reinsurance contracts held and reinsurance finance

income or expenses in profit or loss for the period separately. Income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held

are split into the following two amounts:

Amount recovered from reinsurers.

An allocation of the premiums paid.
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Income or expenses from reinsurance contracts held (continued)

•

•

•

Insurance finance income and expenses

The use of OCI presentation for insurance finance income and expenses

For PAA contracts

For non-participating contracts

Changes in the fulfilment cash flows of the underlying insurance contracts that relate to future service and do not

adjust the CSM of the respective groups to which the underlying insurance contracts belong to. 

Reversals of loss recovery component to the extent those reversals are not changes in the fulfilment cash flows of

the group of reinsurance contracts held.

Insurance finance income or expenses present the effect of the time value of money and the change in the time value

of money, together with the effect of financial risk and changes in financial risk of a group of insurance contracts and

a group of reinsurance contracts held.

The Company has an accounting policy choice to present all of the period’s insurance finance income or expenses in

profit or loss or to split the amount between profit or loss and other comprehensive income (OCI). When considering

the choice of presentation of insurance finance income or expenses, the Company examines the assets held for that

portfolio and how they are accounted for. The accounting policy choice to disaggregate insurance finance income or

expenses so that part is recognised in profit or loss and part in OCI is applied on a portfolio-by-portfolio basis.

The Company may reassess its accounting policy choice during the duration of a group of direct participating

contracts when there is a change in whether the Company holds the underlying items or no longer holds the

underlying items. When such change occurs, the Company includes the amount accumulated in OCI by the date of

change as a reclassification adjustment to profit or loss spread across the period of change and future periods based

on the method and on assumptions that applied immediately before the date of change. Comparatives are not

restated.

When applying the PAA, the Company does not discount the liability for remaining coverage to reflect the time value

of money and financial risk for motor and home insurance policies with a coverage period of one year or less. For

those claims that the Company expects to be paid within one year or less from the date of incurrence, the Company

does not adjust future cash flows for the time value of money and the effects of financial risks. However, claims

expected to take more than one year to settle are discounted applying the discount rate at the time the incurred claim

is initially recognised. The Company disaggregates insurance finance income or expenses between profit or loss and

OCI based on the systematic allocation method over the duration of the contracts in the group.

For non-participating contracts whose cash flows are not affected by underlying items, the Company has elected to

present all insurance finance income or expenses in profit or loss.

The Company establishes a loss recovery component of the asset for the remaining coverage for a group of

reinsurance contracts held. This depicts the recovery of losses recognised on the initial recognition of an onerous

group of underlying insurance contracts or on addition of onerous underlying insurance contracts to a group. The

loss recovery component adjusts the CSM of the group of reinsurance contracts held. The loss recovery component is

then adjusted to reflect:

Allocations of the loss recovery component against the amounts recovered from reinsurers reported in line with

the associated reinsured incurred claims or expenses.

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Presentation (continued)
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Insurance finance income and expenses (continued)

For reinsurance contracts held

Exchange differences

Income tax specifically chargeable to policyholders

Leases

•

•

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Presentation (continued)

When income tax expenses are specifically chargeable to the policyholder under the terms of the contract, they are

measured applying IAS 12, and the Company includes those amounts in the fulfilment cash flows applying IFRS 17.

The Company accounts for them as a reduction in the liability for remaining coverage and recognises insurance

revenue when incurred.

The amounts arising from changes in exchange rates between the currency of the group of contracts and the

functional currency are considered as exchange differences and are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which

they arise.

The systematic allocation is based only on the characteristics of the group of reinsurance contracts held. Over the

duration of the contracts in the group, the total amount recognised in OCI will equal to nil. At any time, the

cumulative amount recognised in OCI is the difference between the amount recognised in the statement of financial

position and the amount determined using the ‘systematic allocation approach'.

For quota-share motor and home reinsurance contracts held measured applying the PAA, the Company adjusts the

LRC for the time value of money for quota-share motor and home reinsurance contracts held with a coverage period

longer than one year using discount rates determined at initial recognition. The Company elects to disaggregate

presentation of insurance finance income or expenses. The amounts presented in profit or loss are based on the

discount rates relating to nominal cash flows that do not vary based on the returns on any underlying items

determined at the date of initial recognition of a group of contracts.

At the end of each reporting period, the carrying amount of the group of insurance contracts denominated in a

foreign currency is translated into the functional currency. 

The amounts arising from changes in exchange rates between the currency of the cash flows and the currency of the

group of contracts are considered as changes in financial risk and are accounted for as insurance finance income or

expenses. 

Exchange differences arising from changes in the carrying amount of groups of insurance contracts issued and

reinsurance contracts held are recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise. Exchange differences

arising from changes in the carrying amount of groups of insurance contracts issued and reinsurance contracts held

included in other comprehensive income, if any, are recognised in other comprehensive income. 

The group of insurance contracts with cash flows in different foreign currencies is assessed to be denominated in a

single currency. Accordingly, the risk adjustment for non-financial risks and the CSM of the group of insurance

contracts are determined in the currency of the group of contracts.

At inception of a contract, the Company assesses whether a contract is, or contains, a lease. A contract is, or contains,

a lease if the contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of time in exchange for

consideration. To assess whether a contract conveys the right to control the use of an identified asset, the Company

assesses whether:

the contract involves the use of an identified asset – this may be specified explicitly or implicitly, and should be

physically distinct or represent substantially all of the capacity of a physically distinct asset. If the supplier has a

substantive substitution right, then the asset is not identified;

the Company has the right to obtain substantially all of the economic benefits from use of the asset

throughout the period of use; and
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•

As a lessee

•

•

•

•

Short-term leases and leases of low-value assets

Leases (continued)

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

the Company has the right to direct the use of the asset. The Company has this right when it has the decision-

making rights that are most relevant to changing how and for what purpose the asset is used. In rare cases where

the decision about how and for what purpose the asset is used is predetermined, the Company has the right to

direct the use of the asset if either:

a. the Company has the right to operate the asset; or

b. the Company designed the asset in a way that predetermines how and for what purpose it will be used.

The Company recognises a right-of-use asset and a lease liability at the lease commencement date. The right-of-use

asset is initially measured at cost, which comprises the initial amount of the lease liability adjusted for any lease

payments made at or before the commencement date, plus any initial direct costs incurred and an estimate of costs to

dismantle and remove the underlying asset or to restore the underlying asset or the site on which it is located, less

any lease incentives received.

The right-of-use asset is subsequently depreciated using the straight-line method from the commencement date to

the earlier of the end of the useful life of the right-of-use asset or the end of the lease term. The estimated useful lives

of right-of-use assets are determined on the same basis as those of property and equipment. In addition, the right-of-

use asset is periodically reduced by impairment losses, if any, and adjusted for certain remeasurements of the lease

liability.

amounts expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee; and

the exercise price under a purchase option that the Company is reasonably certain to exercise, lease payments in

an optional renewal period if the Company is reasonably certain to exercise an extension option, and penalties for

early termination of a lease unless the Company is reasonably certain not to terminate early.

The lease liability is measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method. It is remeasured when there is a

change in future lease payments arising from a change in an index or rate, if there is a change in the Company’s

estimate of the amount expected to be payable under a residual value guarantee, or if the Company changes its

assessment of whether it will exercise a purchase, extension or termination option.

When the lease liability is remeasured in this way, a corresponding adjustment is made to the carrying amount of the

right-of-use asset, or is recorded in profit or loss if the carrying amount of the right-of-use asset has been reduced to

zero.

The Company has elected not to recognise right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases of office

spaces that have a lease term of 12 months or less and leases of low-value assets. The Company recognises the lease

payments associated with these leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term.

The lease liability is initially measured at the present value of the lease payments that are not paid at the

commencement date, discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease or, if that rate cannot be readily

determined, the Company’s incremental borrowing rate. Generally, the Company uses its incremental borrowing rate

as the discount rate.

The Company determines its incremental borrowing rate by obtaining interest rates from various external financing

sources and makes certain adjustments to reflect the terms of the lease and type of the asset leased.

Lease payments included in the measurement of the lease liability comprise the following:

fixed payments, including in-substance fixed payments;

variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate, initially measured using the index or rate as at the

commencement date;
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As a lessor

Other assets and liabilities

Related party transactions  

Current and deferred income tax

Summary of material accounting policies (continued)

Related parties are those enterprises that are either in control of the Company or are controlled by the Company, or

can exercise significant influence over the Company. Control exists when the Company has the power, directly or

indirectly, to govern the financial and operating policies of an enterprise so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

All transactions with the related parties are conducted at arm's-length basis., unless otherwise stated. No expense

has been recognized in the current year or prior year for bad or doubtful debts in respect of amounts owed by related

parties. 

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred taxes. Tax is recognized in the statement of

comprehensive income, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized in other comprehensive income or

directly in equity. In this case, the tax is also recognized in other comprehensive income or directly in equity,

respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted at the end of

the reporting period. The nominal profit tax rate is 22%. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax

returns with respect to situations in which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation and establishes

provisions where appropriate.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are derived from temporary differences between fiscal and financial

valuation of assets and liabilities. Deferred income taxes are determined using the tax rate when it is expected to be

reversed and are expressed at nominal value. Valuation of a deferred tax asset takes place to the extent that such

valuation is deemed possible.

Deferred tax assets are recognized for unused tax losses, unused tax credits and deductible temporary differences to

the extent that it is probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. Deferred tax

assets are reviewed at each reporting date and are reduced to the extent that it is no longer probable that the related

tax benefit will be realised; such reductions are reversed when the probability of future taxable profits improves.

Unrecognized deferred tax assets are reassessed at each reporting date and recognized to the extent that it has

become probable that future taxable profits will be available against which they can be used. The measurement of

deferred tax reflects the tax consequences that would follow from the manner in which the Company expects, at the

reporting date, to recover or settle the carrying amount of its assets and liabilities. 

To classify each lease, the Company makes an overall assessment of whether the lease transfers substantially all of

the risks and rewards incidental to ownership of the underlying asset. If this is the case, then the lease is a finance

lease; if not, then it is an operating lease. As part of this assessment, the Company considers certain indicators such

as whether the lease is for the major part of the economic life of the asset.

Other assets and liabilities are stated at cost unless otherwise stated.

If an arrangement contains lease and non-lease components, the Company applies IFRS 15 to allocate the

consideration in the contract.

The Company recognises lease payments received under operating leases as income on a straight-line basis over the

lease term as part of "investment income" and "other income".

When the Company acts as a lessor, it determines at lease inception whether each lease is a finance lease or an

operating lease.
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2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Current accounts            2,171,608           5,074,124 

Savings accounts           2,643,066          3,084,607 

Investment cash account                 25,226                         -   

Other                    6,146                   6,146 

      4,846,046        8,164,877 

31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23

(in Aruban Florins)

Financial Investments

Deposits with financial institutions       3,400,000       4,000,000           5,100,000          3,700,000 

Government bonds                       -            900,000            5,794,811           6,375,845 

Other debt securities         1,301,947          1,381,516            7,416,079          4,404,656 

     4,701,947      6,281,516      18,310,890     14,480,501 

31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23

(in Aruban Florins)

Measured at fair value         1,301,947          1,381,516            3,362,819          1,420,406 

Measured at amortised cost       3,400,000       4,900,000          14,948,071        13,060,095 

     4,701,947      6,281,516      18,310,890     14,480,501 

31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23 31-Dec-24 31-Dec-23

(in Aruban Florins)

Fair value through profit or loss - Debt                       -          1,025,458                          -                           -   

Fair value through OCI - Debt         1,301,947           356,058            3,362,819           1,420,405 

Amortised cost - Debt       3,400,000       4,900,000          14,948,071        13,060,096 

     4,701,947      6,281,516      18,310,890     14,480,501 

Current Non-current

(2) Cash and cash equivalents

(3) Investment securities

Non-currentCurrent

The following table sets out the carrying amounts of financial investments:

Current Non-current

The company's investment securities are summarized by the following categories:
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2024

Fair value 

through profit 

or loss
Fair value 

through OCI Amortised cost Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Deposits with financial institutions                       -                         -            8,500,000         8,500,000 

Government bonds                       -              551,600           6,864,479           7,416,079 

Other debt securities                       -            4,113,166           2,983,592           7,096,758 

                    -       4,664,766      18,348,071     23,012,837 

2023

Fair value 

through profit 

or loss

Fair value 

through OCI Amortised cost Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Deposits with financial institutions                       -                         -             7,700,000          7,700,000 

Government bonds                       -                         -              7,275,845           7,275,845 

Other debt securities        1,025,458         1,776,464           2,984,250           5,786,172 

    1,025,458      1,776,464      17,960,095     20,762,017 

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

                27,729                         -   

                 39,135                         -   

              465,916             507,880 

              260,441              247,262 

            793,221            755,142 

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Insurance contracts

Insurance contract liabilities 23,787,812    12,766,063   

Reinsurance contracts

Reinsurance contract assets 14,616,263    4,934,868    

The following table sets out the composition of the financial assets as at December 31, 2024 and December 31, 2023:

Prepaid expenses and other receivables

(4) Prepayments and other current assets

Advance and short-term loans to employees 

Other loans and receivables

Interest receivable on investment securities

The reinsurance payable relates to the net amount due to reinsurers. As at 31 December 2024, the reinsurance liabilities

is AWG 7.7 million (2023: AWG 7.2 million).

At 31 December 2024, the maximum exposure to credit risk from insurance contracts is AWG 3.52 million (2023: AWG

3.01 million), which primarily relates to premiums receivable for services that the Company has already provided, and

the maximum exposure to credit risk from reinsurance contracts is AWG 10.41 million (2023: AWG 0.88 million).

(5) Insurance and reinsurance contracts

The table below sets out the carrying amounts of portfolios of insurance and reinsurance contract assets and liabilities at

the end of reporting date, per class of business:

(3) Investment securities (continued)
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Insurance and reinsurance contracts (Continued)

A. Movements in insurance and reinsurance contract balance balances

Non-life

Insurance contracts

Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims

Future cash 

flows

Risk 

Adjustment

Future cash 

flows

Risk 

Adjustment

(in Aruban Florins)

Opening liabilities 7,821,324              4,758,754              185,985                 12,766,063       6,915,837              4,713,469              183,344                 11,812,650        

Net opening balance 7,821,324          4,758,754          185,985              12,766,063       6,915,837          4,713,469          183,344             11,812,650        

Changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI

Insurance revenue (24,096,423)         -                         -                         (24,096,423)     (23,381,373)          -                         -                         (23,381,373)      

Insurance service expenses

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses 21,284,918            -                         21,284,918        -                         9,360,577              -                         9,360,577          

Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows 2,461,003             -                         -                         2,461,003         2,744,004             -                         -                         2,744,004         

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims 60,212                    34,638                   94,850               -                         (489,657)               2,641                      (487,016)            

2,461,003             21,345,130            34,638                   23,840,771        2,744,004             8,870,920             2,641                      11,617,565         

Insurance service result (21,635,420)          21,345,130            34,638                   (255,652)                (20,637,369)         8,870,920             2,641                      (11,763,808)          

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and 

OCI (21,635,420)     21,345,130        34,638               (255,652)            (20,637,369)     8,870,920         2,641                   (11,763,808)      

Cash flows

Premiums received 23,981,002           -                         -                         23,981,002       24,259,981           -                         -                         24,259,981       

Claims and other insurance service expenses paid (10,237,308)          -                         (10,237,308)     -                         (8,825,635)            -                         (8,825,635)        

Insurance acquisition cash flows (2,466,293)            -                         -                         (2,466,293)       (2,717,125)             -                         -                         (2,717,125)          

Total cash flows 21,514,709        (10,237,308)     -                      11,277,401         21,542,856       (8,825,635)        -                      12,717,221         

Net closing balance - liabilities 7,700,613          15,866,576        220,623             23,787,812        7,821,324          4,758,754          185,985              12,766,063       

(5)

The following reconciliations show how the net carrying amounts of insurance and reinsurance contracts in each segment changed during the year as a result of cash flows and amounts recognised in the

statement of profit or loss and OCI.

For each segment, the Company presents a table that separately analyses movements in the liabilities for remaining coverage and movements in the liabilities for incurred claims and reconciles these

movements to the line items in the statement of profit or loss and OCI.

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Liabilities for 

remaining 

coverage

Liabilities for incurred claims

Total

Liabilities for 

remaining 

coverage

Liabilities for incurred claims

Total
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Insurance and reinsurance contracts (Continued)

A. Movements in insurance and reinsurance contract balance balances (Continued)

Non-life (Continued)

Reinsurance contracts

Analysis by remaining coverage and incurred claims

Excluding loss-

recovery 

component

Loss-recovery 

component

Excluding loss-

recovery 

component

Loss-recovery 

component

(in Aruban Florins)

Opening assets 4,086,342             -                         848,526                 4,934,868         3,924,161              -                         1,126,927               5,051,088         

Net opening balance 4,086,342         -                      848,526             4,934,868         3,924,161          -                      1,126,927           5,051,088         

Changes in the statement of profit or loss and OCI

Allocation of reinsurance premiums paid (9,122,150)             -                         -                         (9,122,150)         (9,259,507)            -                         -                         (9,259,507)        

Amounts recoverable from reinsurers

Recoveries of incurred claims and other insurance service 

expenses -                         -                         10,194,065            10,194,065       -                         -                         744,507                 744,507             

Adjustments to assets for incurred claims -                         -                         -                         -                      -                         -                         -                         -                      

-                         -                         10,194,065            10,194,065       -                         -                         744,507                 744,507             

Net expenses from reinsurance contracts (9,122,150)         -                      10,194,065       1,071,915           (9,259,507)        -                      744,507             (8,515,000)       

Total changes in the statement of profit or loss and 

OCI (9,122,150)         -                      10,194,065       1,071,915           (9,259,507)        -                      744,507             (8,515,000)       

Cash flows

Premiums paid 9,301,064             -                         -                         9,301,064         9,421,688              -                         -                         9,421,688         

Amounts received -                         -                         (691,584)                (691,584)            -                         -                         (1,022,908)            (1,022,908)       

Total cash flows 9,301,064         -                      (691,584)            8,609,480        9,421,688         -                      (1,022,908)       8,398,780         

Net closing balance - assets 4,265,256         -                      10,351,007        14,616,263        4,086,342         -                      848,526             4,934,868         

(5)

December 31, 2024 December 31, 2023

Total Total

Assets for remaining coverage

Assets for 

incurred claims

Assets for remaining coverage

Assets for 

incurred claims
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Insurance and reinsurance contracts (Continued)

B. Non-life claims development

Accident year Before 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

At end of accident year 1,699,229          4,531,518          1,739,071           2,381,667          (72,328)              12,683,478       

One year later 247,562             284,954             1,340,132          2,381,667          1,516,053          

Two years later 306,277             479,903             868,261             920,350            

Three years later 493,866            319,149              737,628             

Four years later 268,589            323,677             

Five years later 46,167                

Gross liabilities 203,288         46,167            323,677          737,628          920,350         1,516,053       12,683,478    16,430,641    

ULAE 347,400            

Risk adjustment 618,738             

Effect of discounting (1,309,580)        

Gross liabilities for incurred claims 16,087,199    

Net liabilities 102,600         23,400           273,600         (3,947,400)    676,800         1,195,200      7,534,800     5,859,000     

ULAE 347,400            

Risk adjustment 220,254            

Effect of discounting (690,462)           

Net liabilities for incurred claims 5,736,192       

The table below illustrates how estimates of cumulative claims for the Company’s non-life segment have developed over time on a gross and net of reinsurance basis. Each table shows how the Company’s

estimates of total claims for each accident year have developed over time and reconciles the undiscounted cumulative claims to the amount included in the statement of financial position. Balances have been

translated at the exchange rates prevailing at the reporting date.

(5)
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2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Due from related parties

National General Insurance Corporation (Nagico) N.V.        3,054,749          2,358,273 

Nagico Road and Claims Services N.V.                       -               144,943 

Nagico Insurance (Trinidad and Tobago) Limited              10,696                        -   

Nagico Life Insurance N.V.                6,819                        -   

Nagico Life Insurance (Aruba) N.V.            779,550             877,404 

     3,851,814      3,380,620 

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Due to related parties

Nagico Insurance (Trinidad and Tobago) Limited                       -                  21,873 

Nagico Insurance Company Ltd. (NICL)              20,871                 8,396 

Nagico (St. Lucia) Limited                8,843                        -   

NAGICO Insurance (Grenada) Ltd.               15,575                        -   

Nagico Life Insurance N.V.                       -               261,974 

Nagico Information Technology Center (NITC)              21,600                        -   

          66,889          292,243 

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Due from related parties

Opening balance, January 1       3,380,620         2,859,233 

Settlements       10,719,245       13,098,052 

Reinsurance       (3,767,635)       (5,384,035)

Claims               71,178              164,515 

Management fees      (1,589,586)        (1,145,890)

Personnel expense              94,707             264,703 

Office Expense            (47,967)           (399,761)

Premiums Paid/Received                       -                 71,300 

Cash Paid            (63,232)        (2,911,862)

Quota Share Settlements       (3,145,516)        (3,635,635)

Investments     (1,800,000)            400,000 

     3,851,814      3,380,620 

The current account with National General Insurance Corporation (NAGICO) N.V. is debited or credited for

payments made and collections received on behalf of the Company such as reinsurance expenses, collection of

revenue and for management fees being paid by the Company to Nagico N.V. for the administrative services being

performed by Nagico N.V. The current account has no fixed repayment terms and does not carry interest unless

otherwise specifically agreed between the companies.

Transactions between the Company and related parties including associated companies can be specified as follows

by nature of the transactions:

(6) Current account affiliated companies 
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2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Due to related parties

Opening balance, January 1           292,243          1,067,914 

Management fees                       -                  71,652 

Office expense         (225,354)           (679,152)

Cash paid/Transfer                       -              (160,571)

Personnel Expense                       -                 (7,600)

          66,889          292,243 

As a Lessee

Right-of-use assets

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Balance at January 1

Cost         702,597          702,597 

Accumulated depreciation       (133,359)         (86,070)

Net book value         569,238           616,527 

Changes in book value

Additions     2,720,861                       -   

Decrease in cost (Maturity)      (360,819)                       -   

Decrease in AD (Maturity)           49,694                       -   

Depreciation charge for the year (Direct)       (119,878)           (32,154)

Depreciation charge for the year (Indirect)         (57,366)           (15,135)

    2,232,492          (47,289)

Balance at December 31

Cost      3,473,152          702,597 

Accumulated depreciation       (671,422)        (133,359)

Net book value     2,801,730          569,238 

(6) Current account affiliated companies (continued)

(7) Leases

In 2024, 68% (2023: 68%) of the depreciation expense has been allocated to the insurance service expense.
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Lease liabilities

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Maturity analysis - contractual undiscounted cash flows

Less than one year           303,780               72,660 

One to five years         1,215,012             290,532 

More than five years       2,902,680            508,620 

Total undiscounted lease liabilities at 31 December      4,421,472           871,812 

As at 1 January 610,723          643,769           

Additions 2,720,861      -                   

Reduction (326,795)        -                   

Accretion of interest 170,838         39,614             

Payments (302,700)       (72,660)           

    2,872,927           610,723 

Current            125,282                35,189 

Non-current        2,747,645             575,534 

2024 2023

Interest on lease liabilities            177,244                39,614 

Depreciation charge of right-of-use assets            170,838               47,288 

Expense relating to short-term leases                       -               142,922 

       348,082          229,824 

2024 2023

Total cash outflow for leases        302,700           215,582 

(7) Leases (continued)

Amount recognized in the statement of cash flows

Lease liabilities included in the statement of financial 

position as at 31 December

Amounts recognized in the statement of profit or loss
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2024 movement schedule

Land, 

buildings and 

improve-

ments

Furniture and 

fixtures Equipment Vehicles 31-Dec-24

(in Aruban Florins)

Balance as at January 1

Cost                 53,883               702,279               790,215                127,396          1,673,773 

Accumulated depreciation               (23,033)             (645,938)             (784,659)             (125,663)       (1,579,293)

Net book value                 30,850                  56,341                    5,556                    1,733              94,480 

Changes in book value

Additions                          -                    14,501                    9,539                          -                24,040 

Depreciation (Direct expense)                  (1,310)                (18,861)                  (7,218)                   (1,172)            (28,561)

Depreciation (Indirect expense)                     (627)                 (9,026)                 (3,454)                     (561)            (13,668)

                 (1,937)               (13,386)                  (1,133)                  (1,733)             (18,189)

Balance as at December 31

Cost                 53,883               716,780               799,754                127,396         1,697,813 

Revaluation of assets                          -                            -                            -                            -                           -   

Accumulated depreciation               (24,970)             (673,825)              (795,331)             (127,396)       (1,621,522)

Net book value               28,913               42,955                 4,423                         -                 76,291 

(8) Property and equipment

In 2024, 68% of the depreciation expense has been allocated to the insurance service expense.

52



Nagico Aruba NV, Aruba

2023 movement schedule

Land, 

buildings and 

improve-

ments

Furniture and 

fixtures Equipment Vehicles 31-Dec-22

(in Aruban Florins)

Balance as at January 1

Cost                 53,883               694,846               790,215                127,396        1,666,340 

Accumulated depreciation               (21,095)             (623,231)              (773,171)             (104,887)      (1,522,384)

Net book value                 32,788                   71,615                  17,044                 22,509            143,956 

Changes in book value

Additions                          -                      7,433                          -                            -                   7,433 

Depreciation (Direct expense)                  (1,318)                (15,441)                  (7,812)                (14,128)            (38,699)

Depreciation (Indirect expense)                     (620)                  (7,266)                  (3,676)                 (6,648)             (18,210)

                 (1,938)                (15,274)                (11,488)               (20,776)            (49,476)

Balance as at December 31

Cost                 53,883               702,279               790,215                127,396          1,673,773 

Revaluation of assets                          -                            -                            -                            -                           -   

Accumulated depreciation               (23,033)             (645,938)             (784,659)             (125,663)       (1,579,293)

Net book value              30,850               56,341                 5,556                  1,733              94,480 

In 2023, 68% of the depreciation expense has been allocated to the insurance service expense.

(8) Property and equipment (continued)
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Principal valuator assumptions

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

              53,883               53,883 

            (24,970)             (23,033)

Net carrying amount             28,913            30,850 

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

                4,565                 4,565 

              4,565               4,565 

Deferred tax asset

2024 2023

(in Aruba florins)

Deferred tax asset          1,264,621          1,231,720 

Deferred tax liability           (103,365)            (172,157)

Deferred tax position as at December 31        1,161,256      1,059,563 

2024 Fixed assets

Lease 

liability Total

(in Aruba florins)

Fiscal book value             224,735                        -            224,735 

Commercial book value               76,289              (71,195)              5,094 

Difference in book value             148,446                71,195           219,641 

Deferred tax asset recognized (22%)            32,658             15,662            48,320 

(10) Taxation

As at 31 December 2024, a deferred tax position of AWG 1,161,256 (2023: AWG 1,059,563), which relates to taxable

losses that are still to be compensated, has been recognized. The deferred tax asset has been recognized as it is probable

that future taxable profits will be available against which the Company can utilise the taxable losses based on

Management's projections on its operations in the coming financial years.

(8) Property and equipment (continued)

Accumulated depreciation

There are no restrictions on the realisability of property and equipment or the remittance of income and proceeds of

disposal. The Company has no contractual obligations to purchase, construct or develop property or for repairs,

maintenance or enhancements.

If land and buildings were measured using the cost model, the carrying amounts would be as follows:

Cost

(9) Intangible assets

Other intangible assets
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Taxable 

losses

Outstan-

ding losses

Deferred tax 

asset

(in Aruba florins) <2023 2024

2022 (expires on year 2027) 2,373,852                              -                          -   2,373,852    522,247        

2023 (expires on year 2028) 2,480,917                              -                          -   2,480,917    545,802       

2024 (expires on year 2029) 673,873                                  -                          -   673,873        148,252        

     5,528,642                      -                        -        5,528,642       1,216,301 

Total deferred tax asset 1,264,621    

Deferred tax liability

2024 2023

(in Eastern Caribbean dollars)

Balance as at January 1              172,157                        -   

            (68,792)              172,157 

Balance as at December 31          103,365            172,157 

Profit tax expense / income

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

          (101,693)           (501,412)

                       -                          -   

                       -                          -   

       (101,693)        (501,412)

The charge for the year can be reconciled to the loss before tax as follows:

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Loss before tax from continuing operations          (442,264)       (2,629,139)

Change in recognized deferred tax assets             (32,901)           (537,933)

Change in recognized deferred tax liability             (68,792)               36,521 

       (101,693)        (501,412)

Current year profit tax 

(10) Taxation (Continued)

The deferred tax liabilities are derived from temporary differences as a result of the impact of IFRS 17. Deferred income

taxes are determined using the prevailing tax rate and are expressed at nominal value. 

Credit (charge) to statement of profit or loss

The movement of current and deferred taxes payable can be reconciled to the profit tax expense as reported in the

statement of profit or loss as follows:

Movement of deferred tax asset, charge to the statement of profit or loss

Movement of deferred tax liability, charge to the statement of profit or loss

Loss compensation
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2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Accounts payable             878,974         3,287,222 

Wage tax, pension and social premiums            207,668               78,848 

Salaries                     397                        -   

Other taxes payable               97,803               82,054 

Accrued expenses             924,103            390,429 

     2,108,945      3,838,553 

Share capital and additional paid-in capital

Fair value reserve

Retained earnings

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Contracts measured under the PAA      24,096,423       23,381,373 

Total insurance revenue 24,096,423 23,381,373  

The tables below show an analysis of insurance service expenses recognised in the period:

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Incurred claims and other insurance service expenses       21,284,918         9,360,577 

Amortisation of insurance acquisition cash flows         2,461,003         2,744,004 

Adjustments to liabilities for incurred claims               94,850           (487,016)

23,840,771  11,617,565   

(11) Accounts payable and accrued liabilities

The fair value reserve comprises the cumulative net change in the fair value through OCI financial assets until the assets

are derecognized or impaired. 

(12) Capital and other components of equity

The authorized capital consists of 9,000 ordinary shares with a par value of AWG 1,000 each. As of December 31, 2024

the issued and fully paid up share capital amounted to AWG 1,800,00 being 1,800 shares of AWG 1,000 each. There

was no movement in the number of shares outstanding during the year.

(13) Insurance revenue

The following table presents details of insurance revenue:

(14) Insurance service expense

The movement for the year relates to the current year's financial results.
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2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Allocation of reinsurance premiums paid          9,122,150         9,259,507 

Recoveries of incurred claims and other insurance service expenses     (10,194,065)           (744,507)

(1,071,915)   8,515,000   

The following table analyses the Company’s net financial result in profit or loss and OCI.

Note 2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Investment return

A 938,771           850,378          

(3,551)              (195)                 

B (47,568)           57,623             

Total investment return 887,652       907,806      

Attribution:

Amounts recognised in profit or loss 935,220          850,183          

Amounts recognised in OCI (47,568)           57,623            

887,652       907,806      

A. Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Debt investments measured at FVOCI

Government bonds                  7,527               25,408 

Other debt securities              151,761               94,496 

         159,288          119,904 

Debt investments measured at FVPL

Other debt securities                  5,129               12,540 

              5,129             12,540 

Financial assets measured at amortised cost

Cash and cash equivalents               20,777                      -   

Deposits with financial institutions            304,692             297,007 

Government bonds             332,635             304,677 

Other debt securities             116,250             116,250 

         774,354           717,934 

          938,771          850,378 

Net impairment loss on financial assets

Amounts recognised in OCI

(16)

(15) Net expenses from reinsurance contracts held

An analysis of allocation of reinsurance premiums paid and amounts recovered from reinsurers, are presented in the

tables below:

Net financial result

Interest revenue calculated using the effective interest method
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2024 2023
(in Aruban Florins)

Balance at 1 January               57,623                        -   

Net change in fair value             (50,253)               57,467 

Net amount reclassified to profit or loss                 2,685                     156 

Balance at 31 December 10,055          57,623          

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Personnel expenses A 1,194,433        983,294          

Administrative expenses B            465,032             587,434 

Other operating expenses C         2,874,099         6,120,669 

Depreciation Note 7 & 8               71,034               33,345 

        4,604,598          7,724,742 

A. Personnel Expenses

Salaries and bonuses         2,350,298         1,825,809 

Social premiums            480,878            396,242 

Directors' fees            272,808             499,391 

Pension, defined contribution plan             124,574               77,944 

Travel and accommodation allowances                 5,000                        -   

Car expenses               53,954               53,044 

Entertainment              60,832               94,063 

Other personnel expenses            342,074             126,293 

        3,690,418         3,072,786 

Less: direct expenses       (2,495,985)      (2,089,492)

      1,194,433         983,294 

Number of employees as at December 31                     39                     37 

B. Investment return in OCI related to insurance and reinsurance contracts measured under the

modified retrospective or fair value transition approach 

(17) Other expenses

The total gross salaries and bonuses that are paid out by the company to key management personnel in 2024 amounted

to AWG 471,888 (2023: AWG 579,449). The pension premiums paid for key management in 2024 amounted to AWG

25,222 (2023: AWG 21,600).

On transition to IFRS 17, for certain groups of insurance and reinsurance contracts in the life risk and life savings

segments, the Company determined the cumulative insurance finance income and expenses recognised in OCI at 1

January 2022 using the modified retrospective approach or the fair value approach. The movement in the fair value

reserve for the debt investments at FVOCI and available-for-sale financial assets related to those groups of contracts was

as follows.

(16) Net financial result (continued)
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B. Administrative Expenses

Office expenses              80,839               99,340 

Maintenance            362,646              415,011 

Telephone               85,074             128,473 

Insurance               22,633                  9,931 

Travel and lodging               29,410               92,818 

Utilities               51,085               44,234 

Rent                         2              142,921 

            631,689             932,728 

Less: direct expenses           (166,657)          (345,294)

         465,032          587,434 

C. Other operating expenses

Professional fees            426,948             641,855 

Financing costs             170,838               39,614 

Advertising and promotional costs             467,994            469,407 

Credit loss/(release) on financial assets               82,463                (5,166)

Supervision fees and insurance levies            224,908             189,626 

Bank charges             255,289            333,408 

Security               34,773                  6,138 

Management fee          1,618,230           1,168,107 

Postage               72,093                73,575 

Subscriptions                  9,515                21,165 

Other operating expenses               17,328          3,545,051 

        3,380,379         6,482,780 

Less: direct expenses          (506,280)            (362,111)

     2,874,099      6,120,669 

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Other interest income                13,745              23,200 

Foreign exchange gain                12,001               33,976 

Policy fees           1,671,211            859,888 

Other income            202,590               79,548 

      1,899,547          996,612 

Contingent liability

During the ordinary course of business, the Company is subject to complaints and threatened or actual legal proceedings

brought by or on behalf of current or former employees, customers or other third parties. Although it is not practicable

to forecast or determine the final outcome of all pending or threatened legal proceedings, Management periodically

reassessed, with the assistance of external professional advisors where appropriate, to determine the likelihood of the

Company incurring a liability, and whether a provision is required.

(18) Other income

(19) Commitments and contingencies

(17) Other expenses (continued)
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General

A. Key risks arising from contracts issued

Non-life contracts

Product

Property and casualty *Extreme weather events

*Natural catastrophes

*Legislative changes giving rise 

to increased claims

*Emergence of long-tailed 

claims: e.g. latent disease type 

claims

*Diversification of types of risk, industries and 

geographic locations in which risks are written

*Extensive analysis of data to enhance risk 

selection, segmentation and profitability

*Reinsurance with financially strong reinsurers, 

including excess of loss catastrophe cover

The key risks arising from non-life contracts are the unknown frequency and severity of claims, which are influenced by

the nature of the risks covered and the geographic location in which the risks are written.

(20) Financial Risk Management

The Company is exposed to financial risk through its financial assets and financial liabilities. The Board of Directors has

overall responsibility for the establishment and oversight of the Company’s risk management structure. The Company

has established the Governance, Risk and Conduct Committee and the Investment, Mergers and Acquisition Committee

to ensure that management has a system which details the risk policies, procedures, measurement, reporting and

compliance. The Company’s Internal Audit reviews the risk management policies and processes and reports directly to

the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee oversees how management monitors compliance with risk management

policies and procedures and reviews the adequacy of the risk management framework in relation to the risks that face

the Company. These committees report regularly to the Board of Directors on their activities. 

The overriding objective of the Company’s risk management framework is to enhance its capital base through

competitive earnings growth and to protect capital against inherent business risks. This means that the Company

accepts certain levels of risk in order to generate returns, and the Company manages the levels of risk assumed through

enterprise wide risk management policies and procedures. Identified risks are assessed as to their potential financial

impact and as to their likelihood of occurrence.

Insurance and reinsurance contracts expose the Company to underwriting risk, which comprises insurance risk,

policyholder behaviour risk and expense risk.

In addition, the Company is exposed to financial and operational risks from insurance and reinsurance contracts and

financial instruments. Financial risks include credit risk, liquidity risk and market risk. Market risk comprises currency

risk, interest rate risk and other price risk.

This note presents information about the Company’s risk exposures, and the Company’s objectives, policies and

processes for measuring and managing risks and for managing capital.

The Company issues casualty and property insurance contracts. The nature and extent of the underwriting and financial

risks arising from these contracts are determined by the contract design. The risks are evaluated for risk management

purposes in conjunction with the risks mitigated by related reinsurance contracts and the risks arising from financial

assets held to fund the settlement of the liabilities. The extent to which profit or loss and equity in any period are

sensitive to financial risks depends on the extent to which they are economically hedged or borne by contract holders

and the extent of any mismatches inherent in the accounting policies adopted by the Company.

Key Risks Risk mitigations
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A. Key risks arising from contracts issued (continued)

B. Underwriting risk

i. Management of underwriting risk

For property, the frequency and severity of claims are affected by the occurrence of extreme weather events (e.g. floods,

wildfires and hurricanes) and other natural catastrophes (e.g. earthquakes). In particular, the cost of rebuilding or

repairing a property, together with the cost of business interruption, is a significant feature in the overall value of claims

in this portfolio. In addition, increasing climate risk could potentially introduce material uncertainty in assumptions and 

result in inaccurate pricing of insurance risk.

For retail casualty, motor insurance contracts are subject to legislative and regulatory changes. For example, where

compensation for future loss of earnings or nursing care is settled by paying a single lump sum, the assumed rate of

investment return on the lump sum is a key sensitivity and the rate applicable in certain jurisdictions is determined by

legislation.

For commercial casualty, the severity of claims is significantly affected by increases in the value of settlements awarded

for latent diseases and inflation. The nature and frequency of claims may be affected by emerging trends and changes in

legislation. For example, risk exposure for intangible assets has grown while our customers’ business is increasingly

conducted online and more data is collected and stored through the cloud. Although this portfolio does not contain a

large number of individually significant claims, a high frequency of claims can be a risk, particularly where generic

trends impact many individuals – e.g. poor housing design, negligent professional advice and cyber threats.

(20) Financial Risk Management (continued)

A key component of the management of underwriting risk for the Company’s non-life products is a disciplined

underwriting strategy that is focused on writing quality business. Product pricing is intended to incorporate appropriate

premiums for each type of assumed risk. The underwriting strategy includes underwriting limits on the Company’s total

exposure to specific risks, together with limits on geographic and industry exposures. The aim is to ensure that a

diversified book is maintained, with no over-exposure in any one geographic region.

Non-life contracts are renewable annually or usage-based (e.g. pay-by-mile insurance for car sharing). The ability to

reprice contracts on renewal in response to changes in policyholder risk profiles, claims experience and market

considerations is a significant mitigant to pricing risk. Contracts may also contain other features that constrain

underwriting risk – e.g. the use of deductibles and capping on the maximum permitted loss or number of claims (subject

to local regulatory and legislative requirements).

The Company uses machine-learning algorithms to assess risk exposure and endeavour to optimise the pricing of non-

life contracts. The possibility of weather-related calamities is built into pricing, considering trends in historical data and

leading indicators of climate risk. In retail and commercial property, the Company leverages advanced analytics (e.g.

flood mapping) for identifying properties most at risk and improving risk selection. In retail motor, the Company

collects data about policyholders’ driving habits using telematics and adjusts premiums based on a dynamic, data-rich

assessment of risk.

Underwriting risk comprises insurance risk, policyholder behaviour risk and expense risk.

a. Insurance risk: the risk transferred from the policyholder to the Company, other than financial risk. Insurance risk

arises from the inherent uncertainty about the occurrence, amount or timing of claims.

b. Policyholder behaviour risk: the risk that a policyholder will cancel a contract (i.e. lapse or persistency risk), increase

or reduce premiums, withdraw deposits or annuitise a contract earlier or later than expected.

c. Expense risk: the risk of unexpected increases in the administrative costs associated with the servicing of a contract

(rather than in the costs associated with insured events).

The board of directors sets the Company’s strategy for accepting and managing underwriting risk. Specific underwriting

objectives – e.g. aggregation limits, reinsurance protection thresholds and line of business diversification parameters –

are prepared and reviewed by the Company’s chief underwriting officer. The board continuously reviews its

underwriting strategy in the light of evolving market pricing and loss conditions and as opportunities present

themselves.
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B. Underwriting risk (continued)

i. Management of underwriting risk (continued)

ii. Concentrations of underwriting risk

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Property 531,306           (553,190)         

Motor 7,229,161        3,999,308      

Medical 179,160           174,464           

Marine 736,177            26,091             

Liability 496,014           95,777             

Others (269)                 412                   

9,171,549        3,742,862       

a. Profit or loss

b. Equity

C. Market risk

Changes in underwriting risk variables mainly affect the profit or loss and equity as follows. The effects on profit or loss

and equity are presented net of the related income tax.

*Changes in fulfilment cash flows relating to loss components.

*Changes in fulfilment cash flows that are recognised as insurance finance income 

or expenses in profit or loss.

*Changes in fulfilment cash flows that are recognised as insurance finance income 

or expenses in OCI.

*The effect on profit or loss under (a).

Market risk is the risk that changes in market prices – e.g. foreign exchange rates, interest rates and equity prices – will

affect the fulfilment cash flows of insurance and reinsurance contracts as well as the fair value or future cash flows of

financial instruments. The objective of market risk management is to control market risk exposures within acceptable

parameters while optimising the return on risk.

Market risk principally arises from the Company’s equity investments, interest-bearing financial assets and financial

liabilities, and financial assets and financial liabilities denominated in foreign currencies, but these exposures are largely

offset by similar exposures arising from insurance and reinsurance contracts. The nature of the Company’s business and

ALM processes means that it is exposed to market risk on net assets representing shareholders’ equity. Interest rate risk

and equity price risk also arise from interest rate and equity guarantees in the Company’s insurance and investment

contracts to the extent that they are not economically hedged or borne by contract holders.

(20) Financial Risk Management (continued)

The Company uses reinsurance to mitigate the risk of incurring significant losses linked to single events, including

excess of loss and stop loss reinsurance. Certain non-life businesses are required to protect against catastrophe events in

accordance with local regulatory requirements. Where an individual exposure exceeds the Company’s risk appetite,

additional facultative reinsurance is also purchased.

The carrying amounts of the Company’s non-life insurance contracts (net of reinsurance) are analysed below by type of

product.
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B. Market risk (continued)

i. Management of market risk

ii. Currency risk

iii. Interest rate risk

Exposure to interest rate risk

a. Profit or loss

b. Equity

Management also proactively anticipates likely developments in their markets via monitoring of regional and

international trends via industry publications. Based on the reviews performed, there has been no change to the

Company's exposure to market risks or the manner in which it manages the risk.

(20) Financial Risk Management (continued)

Market risks are evaluated on an ongoing basis by Management through discussions and the review of market

developments and trends.

Changes in interest rates mainly affect the profit or loss and equity as follows. The effects on profit or loss and equity are

presented net of the related income tax.

In the participating segment, changes in the fair value of underlying items due to changes in market variables are largely

reflected in the value of the related insurance and investment contracts. The Company is exposed to market risk only to

the extent of the changes in its share of the fair value of the underlying items that are not economically hedged,

represented by the CSM.

Foreign currency risk is the risk that the value of a financial instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign exchange

rates. The Company’s exposure to foreign currency risks results from the settlement of amounts due to related parties

and the movement in the exchange rate between the United States dollar and the Eastern Caribbean dollar which is not

considered to be significant.

Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because of

changes in market interest rates. The Company's exposure to interest rate risk is solely to the extent that interest-

earning assets mature or re-price at different times or in differing amounts or interest is insufficient to meet the interest

rate credited to policyholders. The Company manages interest rate risk by closely matching, where possible, the

durations of insurance contracts with fixed and guaranteed terms and the supporting financial assets. The Company

monitors its interest rate risk exposure through periodic reviews of asset and liability positions.

*Interest revenue and other finance costs on floating-rate financial instruments 

(assuming that interest rates had varied by 100 basis points during the year).

*Changes in the fair value of derivatives and fixed-rate financial instruments 

measured at FVTPL.

*Changes in the fair value of underlying items of direct participating contracts 

recognised as insurance finance income or expenses.

*Changes in the amount of the Company’s share of the fair value of underlying 

items of onerous direct participating contracts.

*Changes in fulfilment cash flows of onerous direct participating contracts arising 

from interest rate guarantees.

*Insurance finance income or expenses recognised in profit or loss for 

participating and non-life contracts as a result of discounting future cash flows at 

a revised current rate.

*The effect of the risk mitigation option recognised in profit or loss.

*Changes in the fair value of fixed-rate financial assets measured at FVOCI.

*Insurance finance income and expenses recognised in OCI for life risk and life 

savings contracts as a result of discounting future cash flows at a revised current 

rate.

*The effect on profit or loss under (a).
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C. Market risk (continued)

iv. Equity price risk

Exposure to equity price risk

a. Profit or loss

b. Equity

D. Credit risk

i. Management of credit risk

*Changes in the fair value of equity investments measured at FVOCI.

*The effect on profit or loss under (a).

Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Company if a counterparty to a reinsurance contract or financial instrument

fails to meet its contractual obligations, and arises principally from the Company’s reinsurance contract assets and

investments in debt securities. For risk management reporting purposes, the Company considers and consolidates all

elements of credit risk exposures – e.g. individual obligor default risk, country risk and sector risk.

(20) Financial Risk Management (continued)

Equity price risk arising from the underlying items of participating contracts is generally borne by contract holders

except to the extent of the Company’s share of the performance of the underlying items. The Company is also exposed to

equity price risk from equity guarantees in variable annuity contracts and hedges its exposure using derivatives – e.g.

equity index futures.

The Company risk committee regularly monitors equity price risk and manages material investments on an individual

basis. Investment limits require business units to hold diversified portfolios of assets and restrict concentrations to

geographies and industries. The Company does not have a significant concentration of equity price risk.

The Management sets the Company’s strategy for managing credit risk and Investment, Mergers & Acquisition

Committee (IMAC) oversees its implementation. The Company’s investment team, which reports to IMAC, is

responsible for managing the Company’s credit risk, including the following:

a. Formulating credit policies in consultation with business units, covering collateral requirements, credit assessment,

risk grading and reporting, documentary and legal procedures and compliance with regulatory and statutory

requirements.

b. Establishing the authorisation structure for the approval and renewal of credit facilities, intermediaries and reinsurers

in line with credit policies. Authorisation limits are allocated to business units. Larger exposures require approval by

IMAC or the board of directors, as appropriate.

c. Reviewing and assessing credit risk. Company credit reviews all credit exposures in excess of designated limits, before

further exposures are committed to by the business unit concerned.

d. Limiting concentrations of exposure to counterparties, geographies and industries, and by issuer, credit rating band

and market liquidity. Reinsurers and intermediaries are assessed based on external credit ratings and internal reviews.

For debt securities, the Company has a policy to invest only in high-quality corporate and government debt and does not

invest in speculative grade assets.

Changes in interest rates mainly affect the profit or loss and equity as follows. The effects on profit or loss and equity are

presented net of the related income tax.

*Changes in the fair value of equity investments measured at FVTPL that are not 

underlying items.

*Changes in the amount of the Company’s share of the fair value of underlying 

items of onerous direct participating contracts.

*Changes in fulfilment cash flows of onerous direct participating contracts arising 

from equity guarantees.

*The effect of the risk mitigation option recognised in profit or loss.

The Company’s exposure to equity price risk arises from its investments in equity securities and collective investment

schemes that invest in equities.
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D. Credit risk (continued)

Category

Fair risk

Substandard

Doubtful

In default

ii. Credit quality analysis

2024 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Based on S&P ratings

A- to A+ -                   1,025,458       

                       -           1,025,458 

C to CC

The following table sets out information about the credit quality of debt investments measured at FVTPL.

f. Developing and maintaining the Company’s processes for measuring ECL. This includes processes for:

>initial approval, regular validation and back-testing of the models used;

>determination and monitoring of significant increases in credit risk; an

>incorporation of forward-looking information.

g. Reviewing compliance of business units with agreed exposure limits, including those for selected industries, country

risk and product types. Regular reports on the credit quality of local portfolios are provided to Company credit, which

may require appropriate corrective action to be taken. These include reports containing estimates of loss allowances.

h. Providing advice, guidance and specialist skills to business units to promote best practice throughout the Company in

the management of credit risk.

Grade 5

Grade 6

Grade 7

AAA

AA- to AA+

A- to A+

BBB- to BBB+

BB- to BB+

CCC- to B+

e. Developing and maintaining the Company’s risk gradings to categorise exposures according to the degree of risk of

default when external credit ratings are not available. The current risk grading framework consists of eight grades

reflecting varying degrees of risk of default. The responsibility for setting risk grades lies with Company credit. Risk

grades are subject to regular review by the Company risk committee. Specifically, the potential impact of reinsurer

default is monitored on a Company-wide basis and managed accordingly. An indicative mapping of how the Company’s

internal risk grades relate to Standard and Poors (S&P) ratings is as follows (see next page) .

External ratingInternal rating

Grade 1

Low risk
Grade 2

Grade 3

Grade 4

(20) Financial Risk Management (continued)

i. Management of credit risk (continued)

Grade 8 D
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D. Credit risk (continued)

December 31, 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

a. Deposits with financial institutions

Based on internal ratings

Grade 4 8,500,000      -                   -                   8,500,000      

Amortised cost 8,500,000      -                   -                   8,500,000      

b. Government bonds at amortised cost

Based on S&P ratings

BBB- to BBB+ 6,864,689      -                   -                   6,864,689      

6,864,689      -                   -                   6864689

Loss allowance (210)                 -                   -                   (210)                 

Amortised cost 6,864,479       -                   -                   6864479

c. Government Bonds at FVOCI

Based on S&P ratings

BBB- to BBB+ 212,638           -                   -                   212,638           

BB- to BB+ 338,962          -                   -                   338,962          

551,600           -                   -                   551600

Loss allowance (871)                 

Amortised cost 550,729           -                   -                   551600

d. Other debt securities at amortised cost

Based on internal ratings

Grade 5 3,000,000      -                   -                   3,000,000      

3,000,000      -                   -                   3,000,000      

Loss allowance (16,407)            -                   -                   (16,407)            

Amortised cost 2,983,593       -                   -                   2,983,593       

e. Other debt securities at FVOCI

Based on S&P ratings

A- to A+ 964,500          -                   -                   964,500          

BBB- to BBB+ 3,148,665       -                   -                   3,148,665       

4,113,165         -                   -                   4,113,165         

Loss allowance (3,651)              -                   -                   (3,651)              

Amortised cost 4,109,514        -                   -                   4,109,514        

The following tables set out the credit quality analysis for debt investments measured at FVOCI and at amortised cost

and lease receivables without taking into account collateral or other credit enhancements. Unless specifically indicated,

the amounts in the table represent gross carrying amounts.

(20) Financial Risk Management (continued)

ii. Credit quality analysis (continued)
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D. Credit risk (continued)

December 31, 2024 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Cash and cash equivalents

Grade 1 4,846,046      -                   -                   4,846,046      

Amortised cost 4,846,046      -                   -                   4,846,046      

Receivables other than operating lease receivables

Grade 4 793,221           -                   -                   793,221           

Amortised cost 793,221           -                   -                   793,221           

December 31, 2023 Stage 1 Stage 2 Stage 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

a. Deposits with financial institutions

Based on internal ratings

Grade 4 7,700,000      -                   -                   7,700,000      

Amortised cost 7,700,000      -                   -                   7,700,000      

b. Government bonds at amortised cost

Based on S&P ratings

BBB- to BBB+ 7,275,845       -                   -                   7,275,845       

Amortised cost 7,275,845       -                   -                   7275845

c. Other debt securities at FVOCI

Based on S&P ratings

A- to A+ 272,384          -                   -                   272,384          

BBB- to BBB+ 1,504,080       -                   -                   1,504,080       

1,776,464        -                   -                   1776464

Loss allowance (1,686)              

Amortised cost 1,774,778        -                   -                   1776464

d. Other debt securities at amortised cost

Based on internal ratings

Grade 5 3,000,000      -                   -                   3,000,000      

Amortised cost 3,000,000      -                   -                   3,000,000      

Cash and cash equivalents

Grade 1 8,164,877        -                   -                   8,164,877        

Amortised cost 8,164,877        -                   -                   8,164,877        

Receivables other than operating lease receivables

Grade 4 755,142           -                   -                   755,142           

Amortised cost 755,142           -                   -                   755,142           

(20) Financial Risk Management (continued)

ii. Credit quality analysis (continued)
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E. Liquidity risk

i. Management of liquidity risk

Liquidity risk management process

F. Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of direct or indirect loss arising from a variety of causes associated with the Company’s

processes, personnel, technology and infrastructure, and from external factors other than credit, market and liquidity

risks such as those arising from legal and regulatory requirements and generally accepted standards of corporate

governance. Operational risks arise from all of the Company’s operations.

The Company’s objective is to manage operational risks so as to balance the avoidance of financial losses and damage to

the Company’s reputation with overall cost effectiveness and to avoid control procedures that restrict initiative and

creativity.

>Cash flow is monitored weekly through cash summary reports. In order to evaluate excess funds availability, the

Company considers large recurring commitments, such as reinsurance, and claims/expenditure patterns as well as

expected large expenditures. These are then weighed against cash inflows;

>Maintaining a portfolio of highly marketable and diverse assets that can easily be liquidated as protection against any

unforeseen interruption to cash flow;

>Optimizing cash returns on investment; and

>Monitoring statement of financial position liquidity ratios against internal and regulatory requirements. 

>Matching, to the maximum extent possible, the cash flows of the Company’s financial assets with the cash flows of

insurance and investment contracts and other financial liabilities.

>Monitoring liquidity ratios and carrying out stress-testing of the Company’s liquidity position against various

exposures and global, country-specific and Company-specific events.

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Company will encounter difficulty in meeting the obligations associated with its

insurance and reinsurance contracts and financial liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another financial asset.

Although the relatively illiquid nature of insurance contracts allows the Company to invest in less liquid but higher-

yielding assets, liquidity risk arises from funds composed of illiquid assets and results from mismatches in the liquidity

profile of assets and liabilities.

The Company’s objective in managing liquidity risk is to ensure, as far as possible, that it will have sufficient liquidity to

meet its liabilities when they are due, under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses

or risking damage to the Company’s reputation. The key elements of the Company’s liquidity strategy are as follows.

>Maintaining a diversified funding base and appropriate contingency facilities.

>Carrying a portfolio of highly liquid assets, diversified by currency and maturity, that can be readily converted into

cash to protect against unforeseen short-term interruptions to cash flows.

The Company's liquidity management process as carried out within the Company is monitored by the Treasury team

and the Finance Department includes:

(20) Financial Risk Management (continued)

The maturity profile of the Company’s financial liabilities for the current year includes accounts payable and lease

liabilities in the amount of AWG 2.1 million and AWG 2.9 million respectively (2023: AWG 3.8 million and AWG 0.6

million), all of which are due within one year and affiliated company balances in the amount of AWG 0.1 million (2023:

AWG 0.3 million) with no set maturity.
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F. Operational risk (continued)

G. Fair Value

The following table summaries the carrying amount and fair value of the Company's Financial Investments:

Carrying Fair Carrying Fair 

Financial investments Amount Value Amount Value

2024 2024 2023 2023

(in Aruban Florins)

Deposits with financial institutions        8,500,000        8,500,000         7,700,000         7,700,000 

Government bonds          7,416,079         7,559,434          5,786,172         7,202,959 

Other debt securities 7,096,758       6,966,165       7,275,845       5,537,131        

23,012,837     23,025,599     20,762,017     20,440,090    

>Documentation of controls and procedures;

>Requirements for the periodic assessments of the operational risks faced, and the adequacy of controls and procedures

to assess and manage the risks identified;

>Development of contingency plans;

>Training and professional development of staff;

>Ethical and business standards;

>IT, data security and cyber risks; and

>risk mitigation, including insurance where this is cost-effective.

20 Financial Risk Management (continued)

Determination of fair value

When measuring the fair value of an asset or liability, the Company uses market observable data as far as possible. Fair

values are categorized into different levels in a fair value hierarchy based on the inputs in the valuation techniques as

follows:

Level 1 – fair value measurements using quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities.

Level 2 – fair value measurements using inputs other than quoted prices included within Level 1 that are observable for

the asset and liability, either directly (i.e. as prices) or indirectly (i.e. derived from prices).

Level 3 – fair value measurements using inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data

(i.e. unobservable inputs).

Carrying Amounts & Fair Values

The primary responsibility for the development and implementation of controls to address operational risk is assigned

to senior management. This responsibility is supported by the development of overall standards for the management of

operational risk in the following areas:

>Requirements for appropriate segregation of duties, including the independent authorization of transactions;

>Requirements for the reconciliation and monitoring of transactions;

>Compliance with regulatory and other legal requirements;
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G. Fair Value (continued)

Investment Securities Designated at Fair Value Through Profit & loss

31 December 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Other debt securities -                   -                   -                   -                   

-                   -                   -                   -                   

31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Other debt securities 1,025,458       -                   -                   1,025,458       

1,025,458       -                   -                   1,025,458    

Investment Securities Designated at Amortised Cost for which Fair Values are disclosed

31 December 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Deposits with financial institutions 8,500,000      -                   -                   8,500,000      

Government Bonds -                   7,007,834       -                   7,007,834       

Other debt securities -                   2,853,000      -                   2,853,000      

8,500,000      9,860,834      -                   18,360,834 

31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Deposits with financial institutions 7,700,000      -                   -                   7,700,000      

Government Bonds -                   7,202,959       -                   7,202,959       

Other debt securities -                   2,735,209       -                   2,735,209       

7,700,000      9,938,168       -                   17,638,168  

Investment Securities Designated at Fair Value Through OCI

31 December 2024 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Government Bonds 551,600           -                   -                   551,600           

Other debt securities 4,113,165         -                   -                   4,113,165         

4,664,765       -                   -                   4,664,765       

31 December 2023 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total

(in Aruban Florins)

Other debt securities 1,776,464        -                   -                   1,776,464        

1,776,464        -                   -                   1,776,464        

Quantitative disclosures fair value measurement hierarchy for assets 

20 Financial Risk Management (continued)
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Governance framework

Capital management objectives, policies and approach

Solvency requirement margin for insurance company

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

·

To provide an adequate return to the shareholder by pricing insurance and investment contracts consummately with the

level of risk; and

To maintain strong credit ratings and healthy capital ratios in order to support its business objectives and maximize

shareholders' value.

The Company has established the following capital management objectives, policies and approach to managing the risks

that affect its capital position:

To maintain the required level of stability of the Company thereby providing a degree of security to policyholders;

To allocate capital efficiently and support the development of business by ensuring that returns on capital employed

meet the requirements of its capital providers and of its shareholder;

To retain financial flexibility by maintaining strong liquidity and access to a range of capital markets;

To safeguard the Company's ability to continue as a going concern in order to provide the requisite returns for the

shareholder and benefits for other stakeholders;

To align the profile of assets and liabilities taking account of risks inherent in the business;

To maintain financial strength to support new business growth and to satisfy the requirements of the policyholders,

regulators and stakeholders;

(21) Risk Management framework

The Company has established a risk management function with clear terms of reference from the Board of Directors, its

committees and the associated executive management committees. This is supplemented with a clear organisational

structure with documented delegated authorities and responsibilities from the Board of Directors to executive

management committees and senior managers. Lastly, a Company policy framework which sets out the risk profiles for

the Company, risk management, control and business conduct standards for the Company’s operations has been put in

place. Each policy has a member of senior management charged with overseeing compliance with the policy throughout

the Company.

The Board of Directors approves the Company’s risk management policies and meets regularly to approve any

commercial, regulatory and organisational requirements of such policies. These policies define the Company’s

identification of risk and its interpretation, limit structure to ensure the appropriate quality and diversification of assets,

align underwriting and reinsurance strategy to the corporate goals, and specify reporting requirements. For example,

following the regulatory changes brought about by the various Financial Services Commissions (FSC) throughout the

Caribbean Region, the Company has placed a greater emphasis on assessment and documentation of risks and controls.

The Board’s policy is to maintain a strong capital base so as to maintain investor, creditor and market confidence and to

sustain future development of the business. The impact of the level of capital on shareholders' return is also monitored

through maintaining a balance between aiming for higher profits and having a sound capital position. The Company

falls under the supervision of the related authorities of Aruba.

Solvency ratios are established on the basis of risk assessment. The Company is required to meet a minimum margin of

solvency. The Central Bank of Aruba defines that a general business must have a solvency margin equal to the highest

outcome of one of the following calculations. 15% of the gross premiums booked in the preceding financial year, or 15%

of the average gross claims incurred in the last three financial years but with a minimum solvency requirement of AWG

300,000. The Company has complied with the regulatory imposed capital requirements throughout the year. 

The primary objective of the Company’s risk and financial management framework is to protect the Company’s

shareholder from events that hinder the sustainable achievement of financial performance objectives, including failing

to exploit opportunities. Management recognises the critical importance of having efficient and effective risk

management systems in place.
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Capital management objectives, policies and approach (continued)

Approach to capital management

Regulatory framework

Regulators are primarily interested in protecting the rights of policyholders and monitor them closely to ensure that the

Company is satisfactorily managing affairs for their benefit. At the same time, regulators are also informed that the

Company is satisfactorily managing affairs for their benefit. Regulators are also interested in ensuring that the Company

maintains an appropriate solvency position to meet unforeseen liabilities arising from economic shocks or natural

disasters.

In reporting financial strength, capital and solvency are measured using the rules prescribed by the regulator. These

regulatory capital tests are based upon required levels of solvency and capital in respect of the type of business written. 

The Company’s capital management policy for its insurance and non–insurance business is to hold sufficient capital to

cover the statutory requirements based on the regulators directives, including any additional amounts required by the

regulator.

The Company has met all of these requirements throughout the financial year. 

The operations of the Company are also subject to regulatory requirements within St. Lucia. Such regulations not only

prescribe approval and monitoring of activities, but also impose certain restrictive provisions (e.g., capital adequacy) to

minimize the risk of default and insolvency on the part of the Company to meet unforeseen liabilities as these arise.

In order to comply with these capital requirements by the regulators, management considers the quantitative threshold

sufficient to maximize shareholder's returns and to support the capital required to write each of its business in countries

where the company operates.

The Company has complied with the regulatory imposed capital requirements throughout the year. In reporting

financial strength, capital and solvency are measured using the rules prescribed by the various Financial Services

Commissions (FSC) and A.M. Best Rating Agency. These regulatory capital tests are based upon required levels of

solvency, capital and a series of prudent assumptions in respect of the type of business written.

The Company seeks to optimize the structure and sources of capital to ensure that it consistently maximizes returns to

the shareholder and policyholders.

The Company’s approach to managing capital involves managing assets, liabilities and risks in a coordinated way,

assessing shortfalls between reported and required capital levels (by each regulated entity) on a regular basis and taking

appropriate actions to influence the capital position of the Company in the light of changes in economic conditions and

risk characteristics. An important aspect of the Company's overall capital management process is the setting of target

risk adjusted rates of return, which are aligned to performance objectives and ensure that the Company is focused on the

creation of value for the shareholder.

The primary source of capital used by the Company is shareholders’ equity funds. The capital requirements are routinely

forecast on a periodic basis and assessed against both the forecast available capital and the expected internal rate of

return, including risk and sensitivity analysis. The process is ultimately subject to approval by the Board.

The Company has had no significant changes in its policies and processes to its capital structure during the past year

from previous years.

(21) Risk Management framework (continued)
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Asset-liability management (ALM) framework

The Company’s ALM is:

·

·

Management has evaluated the need for disclosures and adjustments resulting from subsequent events from January 1,

2025 to the date the financial statements were approved. There were no subsequent events requiring disclosures and/or

adjustments.

Financial risks arise from open positions in interest rate, currency and equity products, all of which are exposed to

general and specific market movements. The main risk that the Company faces, due to the nature of its investments and

liabilities, is interest rate risk. The Company manages these positions within an ALM framework that has been

developed to achieve long–term investment returns in excess of its obligations under insurance and investment

contracts. The principal technique of the Company’s ALM is to match assets to the liabilities arising from insurance and

investment contracts by reference to the type of benefits payable to contract holders. For each distinct category of

liabilities, a separate portfolio of assets is maintained.

Integrated with the management of the financial risks associated with the Company’s other financial assets and

liabilities not directly associated with insurance and investment liabilities;

An integral part of the insurance risk management policy, to ensure in each period sufficient cash flow is available to

meet liabilities arising from insurance and investment contracts.

(22) Subsequent events

(21) Risk Management framework (continued)

73


